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Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(Exchange Act), and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act). All statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q other
than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, our business strategy and plans and our
objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “potentially,” “estimate,” “target,” “continue,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan” and “expect,” and similar expressions that convey uncertainty of future events or outcomes, are intended to identify
forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those described in Part II. Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment, and new risks emerge from time
to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may not occur and actual results
could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking
statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason, except as required by law.

Unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise indicates, references to “we,” “us,” “our” and similar references refer to Trupanion, Inc. and its subsidiaries taken
as a whole.



PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

TRUPANION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share data)
(unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,  
 2020  2019  
Revenue $ 111,301  $ 86,978  
Cost of revenue:     

Veterinary invoice expense 79,640  61,282  
Other cost of revenue 13,809  10,664  

Gross profit 17,852  15,032  
Operating expenses:     

Technology and development 2,845  2,669  
General and administrative 5,516  5,419  
Sales and marketing 10,442  8,227  

Total operating expenses 18,803 16,315  
Gain (loss) from investment in joint venture (59)  —  
Operating loss (1,010) (1,283)  
Interest expense 379  317  
Other income, net (282)  (344)  
Loss before income taxes (1,107) (1,256)  
Income tax expense 26 40  
Net loss $ (1,133)  $ (1,296)  

    
Net loss per share:     

Basic and Diluted $ (0.03)  $ (0.04)  
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding:     

Basic and Diluted 35,007,052  34,292,367  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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TRUPANION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,  
 2020  2019  
Net loss $ (1,133)  $ (1,296)  
Other comprehensive income (loss):     

Foreign currency translation adjustments (630)  189  
Net unrealized (loss) gain on available-for-sale debt securities (5)  19  

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes (635)  208  
Comprehensive loss $ (1,768)  $ (1,088)  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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TRUPANION, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share data)
 March 31, 2020  December 31, 2019
Assets (unaudited)   
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,221  $ 29,168
Short-term investments 76,094  69,732
Accounts and other receivables 65,997  54,408
Prepaid expenses and other assets 5,766  5,513

Total current assets 175,078  158,821
Restricted cash 1,400  1,400
Long-term investments, at fair value 4,094  4,323
Property and equipment, net 70,569  70,372
Intangible assets, net 7,571  7,731
Other long-term assets 14,487  14,553

Total assets $ 273,199  $ 257,200
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 4,772  $ 4,087
Accrued liabilities and other current liabilities 14,003  13,798
Reserve for veterinary invoices 22,862  21,194
Deferred revenue 62,014  52,546

Total current liabilities 103,651  91,625
Long-term debt 29,844  26,086
Deferred tax liabilities 1,118  1,118
Other liabilities 1,761  1,611

Total liabilities 136,374  120,440
Stockholders’ equity:    

Common stock: $0.00001 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 36,017,670 and 35,084,505
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2020; 35,876,882 and 34,947,017 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2019 —  —
Preferred stock: $0.00001 par value per share, 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding —  —
Additional paid-in capital 234,642  232,731
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (385)  250
Accumulated deficit (86,653)  (85,520)
Treasury stock, at cost: 933,165 shares at March 31, 2020 and 929,865 shares at December 31, 2019 (10,779)  (10,701)

Total stockholders’ equity 136,825  136,760
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 273,199  $ 257,200

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Trupanion, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands, except share amounts)
(unaudited)

 Common Stock Additional
Paid-in Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock

Total
Stockholders'

Equity Shares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2020 34,947,017 $ — $ 232,731 $ (85,520) $ 250 $ (10,701) $ 136,760
Issuance of common stock in connection with the
Company's equity award programs, net of tax
withholdings 140,788 — 205 — — — 205
Stock-based compensation expense — — 1,706 — — — 1,706
Repurchase of common stock (3,300) — — — — (78) (78)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — (635) — (635)
Net loss — — — (1,133) — — (1,133)

Balance at March 31, 2020 35,084,505 $ — $ 234,642 $ (86,653) $ (385) $ (10,779) $ 136,825

        

        

 Common Stock Additional
Paid-in Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Stock

Total
Stockholders'

Equity Shares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2019 34,025,136 $ — $ 219,838 $ (83,711) $ (753) $ (6,201) $ 129,173
Exercise of warrants, net 276,120 — 4,500 — — (4,500) —
Issuance of common stock in connection with the
Company's equity award programs, net of tax
withholdings 166,209 — 507 — — — 507
Stock-based compensation expense — — 1,417 — — — 1,417
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — 208 — 208
Net loss — — — (1,296) — — (1,296)

Balance at March 31, 2019 34,467,465 $ — $ 226,262 $ (85,007) $ (545) $ (10,701) $ 130,009

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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TRUPANION, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2020  2019
Operating activities    
Net loss $ (1,133)  $ (1,296)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 1,381  1,613
Stock-based compensation expense 1,653  1,357
Other, net 73  (3)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts and other receivables (11,697)  (5,894)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (195)  325
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and other liabilities 1,322  1,256
Reserve for veterinary invoices 1,825  1,078
Deferred revenue 9,695  5,523

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,924  3,959
Investing activities    
Purchases of investment securities (11,579)  (17,350)
Maturities of investment securities 5,100  10,205
Purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets (1,496)  (878)
Other 9  (1,479)

Net cash used in investing activities (7,966)  (9,502)
Financing activities    
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 559  661
Shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding (321)  (197)
Proceeds from debt financing, net of financing fees 3,744  5,200
Other (78)  (271)

Net cash provided by financing activities 3,904  5,393
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, net (809)  220
Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (1,947)  70
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period 30,568  27,952
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 28,621  $ 28,022

Supplemental disclosures    
Noncash investing and financing activities:    

Issuance of common stock for cashless exercise of warrants $ —  $ 4,500
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 355  $ 141

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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TRUPANION, INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

1. Nature of Operations and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Trupanion, Inc. (collectively with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, the Company) provides medical insurance for cats and dogs throughout the United States, Canada
and Puerto Rico.
The financial data as of December 31, 2019 was derived from the Company's audited consolidated financial statements. The accompanying unaudited interim
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and, in management's opinion,
have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and include all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the
fair presentation of the Company's financial position, results of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity and cash flows for the interim
periods. These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on February 13, 2020 (the 2019 10-K). The Company's
accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the audited financial statements included in the 2019 10-K. Operating results for the three months ended March 31,
2020 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full fiscal year or any other interim period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from such estimates. See Note 1 to the audited financial
statements included in the 2019 10-K for additional discussion of these estimates and assumptions.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), using the modified retrospective
approach on January 1, 2020. The ASU replaces the incurred loss impairment methodology with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses and requires the
use of a forward-looking expected credit loss model for accounts receivables, loans, and other financial instruments. The new standard did not have a material
impact on the Company's consolidated statements of operations, balance sheets, stockholders' equity, or cash flows. The Company did not record any cumulative-
effect adjustment to its retained earnings upon the adoption.

2. Net Income (Loss) per Share
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income
(loss) per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares of common stock plus, when dilutive, potential shares of common stock outstanding
using the treasury-stock method. Potential shares of common stock outstanding include stock options, unvested restricted stock awards and restricted stock units,
and warrants.

The following potentially dilutive equity securities were not included in the diluted earnings per share of common stock calculation because they would have had
an antidilutive effect:

 Three Months Ended March 31,  
 2020  2019  
Stock options 2,046,395  2,513,946  
Restricted stock awards and restricted stock units 506,863  716,319  
Warrants —  30,000  

3. Investments
Long-term investments are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). Short-term investments are classified as held-to-maturity and reported at amortized cost. The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains and
losses, and estimates of fair value of long-term and short-term investments by major security type and class of security were as follows as of March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 (in thousands):
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Amortized 

Cost  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Gains  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Losses  

Fair 
Value

As of March 31, 2020        
Long-term investments:        

Foreign deposits $ 3,099  $ —  $ —  $ 3,099
Municipal bond 1,000  —  (5)  995

 $ 4,099  $ —  $ (5)  $ 4,094
       Short-term investments:        
              U.S. Treasury securities $ 6,159  $ 11  $ —  $ 6,170
              Certificates of deposit 1,565  —  —  1,565
              U.S. government funds 68,370  —  —  68,370
 $ 76,094 $ 11  $ — $ 76,105
        

 
Amortized 

Cost  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Gains  

Gross 
Unrealized 

Holding 
Losses  

Fair 
Value

As of December 31, 2019        
Long-term investments:        

Foreign deposits $ 3,323  $ —  $ —  $ 3,323
Municipal bond 1,000  —  —  1,000

 $ 4,323 $ —  $ — $ 4,323
Short-term investments:        

U.S. Treasury securities $ 6,156  $ —  $ (1)  $ 6,155
Certificates of deposit 440  —  —  440
U.S. government funds 63,136  —  —  63,136

 $ 69,732 $ —  $ (1) $ 69,731

Maturities of debt securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows (in thousands):

 As of March 31, 2020

 
Amortized 

Cost  
Fair 
Value

Available-for-sale:    
Due after one year through five years $ 4,099  $ 4,094

 $ 4,099  $ 4,094

The Company does not expect any credit losses from its held-to-maturity investments, considering the composition of the investment portfolio and the credit loss
history of these investments. For available-for-sale debt securities, the Company determined that the unrealized losses were immaterial and due to non-credit
factors. The Company does not intend to sell, nor is it more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell, the securities prior to maturity or prior to the
recovery of the amortized cost basis.

4. Other Investments
Investment in Variable Interest Entity

In July 2018, the Company purchased $3.0 million in preferred stock of a privately held corporation with a complementary business line. In October 2019, the
Company purchased an additional $4.0 million in preferred stock upon the exercise of an option by the variable interest entity. The Company does not have power
over the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the variable interest entity and is, therefore, not the primary beneficiary. The
Company has the option to purchase all of the outstanding common shares issued by the variable interest entity on the fifth anniversary of the initial preferred stock
purchase.
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Additionally, the Company has extended a $2.5 million revolving line of credit to the variable interest entity to fund its inventory purchases. The Company's
investment and amounts loaned under the line of credit are recorded in other long-term assets on its consolidated balance sheet. The outstanding loan balance under
the line of credit was $2.5 million as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. The Company has also entered into a series of agreements to provide ancillary
services to the variable interest entity at cost. The Company provided $0.4 million and $0.3 million of these services for the three months ended March 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively, which were recorded against its operating expenses.

Investment in Joint Venture

In September 2018, the Company acquired a non-controlling equity interest in a joint venture, whereby it has committed to licensing certain intellectual property
and contributing up to $2.2 million AUD upon the achievement of specific operational milestones over a period of at least four years from the agreement execution
date. As of March 31, 2020, the Company has contributed $0.5 million AUD. This equity investment is accounted for using the equity method and is classified in
other long-term assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. The Company's share of income and losses from this equity method investment is included in
gain (loss) from investment in joint venture on its consolidated statement of operations. Also included in this line item are income and expenses associated with
administrative services provided to the joint venture.

5. Fair Value
Investments
The following table summarizes, by major security type, the Company's assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, and placement within the fair
value hierarchy (in thousands):

 As of March 31, 2020

 Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Assets        

Restricted cash $ 1,400  $ 1,400  $ —  $ —
Money market funds 1,053  1,053  —  —
Fixed maturities:       

Foreign deposits 3,099  3,099  —  —
Municipal bond 995  —  995  —

Investment in variable interest entity 7,625  —  —  7,625
Total $ 14,172 $ 5,552 $ 995 $ 7,625
        
 As of December 31, 2019

 Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
Assets        

Restricted cash $ 1,400  $ 1,400  $ —  $ —
Money market funds 1,050  1,050  —  —
Fixed maturities:        

Foreign deposits 3,323  3,323  —  —
Municipal bond 1,000  —  1,000  —

Investment in variable interest entity 7,625  —  —  7,625
Total $ 14,398  $ 5,773  $ 1,000  $ 7,625

The Company measures the fair value of restricted cash, money market funds, and foreign deposits based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.
The fair value of the municipal bond is based on either recent trades in inactive markets or quoted market prices of similar instruments and other significant inputs
derived from or corroborated by observable market data. Short-term investments are carried at amortized cost and the fair value is disclosed in Note 3, Investments.
The fair value of these investments is determined in the same manner as for available-for-sale securities and is considered a Level 1 measurement.
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The Company's preferred stock investment in the variable interest entity (see Note 4) is accounted for as an available-for-sale debt security and measured at fair
value at each balance sheet date. The estimated fair value of the preferred stock investment is a Level 3 measurement and is based on certain unobservable inputs
such as the value of the underlying enterprise, volatility, time to liquidity, and market interest rates. An increase or decrease in any of these unobservable inputs
would result in a change in the fair value measurement. Estimated fair value was $7.6 million as of March 31, 2020, unchanged from December 31, 2019, recorded
in other long-term assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. An unrealized gain of $0.6 million was recorded in other comprehensive income in the
quarter ended December 31, 2019.

Fair Value Disclosures

The Company's other long-term assets balance included notes receivable of $6.0 million as of March 31, 2020 and $6.1 million as of December 31, 2019, recorded
at their estimated collectible amount. The Company estimates that the carrying value of the notes receivable approximates the fair value. The estimated fair value
represents a Level 3 measurement within the fair value hierarchy and is based on market interest rates and the assessed creditworthiness of the third party. There
was no significant activity in Level 3 of the hierarchy during the three months ended March 31, 2020.

The Company estimates the fair value of long-term debt based upon rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.
This is a Level 3 measurement. Based upon the terms of the debt, the carrying amount of long-term debt approximated fair value at March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There
were no transfers between levels for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the year ended December 31, 2019.

6. Debt
The Company has a revolving line of credit of up to $50.0 million, maturing June 2022. The facility is secured by any and all interests in the Company's assets that
are not otherwise restricted. Interest on the revolving line of credit is payable monthly at the greater of 4.5%, or 0.75% plus the prime rate (4.50% at March 31,
2020). The credit agreement includes other ancillary services and letters of credit of up to $4.5 million. It also requires a deposit of restricted cash of $1.4 million
and a minimum cash or investment balance of $2.1 million. The credit agreement requires the Company to comply with various financial and non-financial
covenants. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants required by the credit agreement.
Borrowings on the revolving line of credit are limited to the lesser of $50.0 million or the total amount of cash and securities held by the Company's insurance
subsidiaries (American Pet Insurance Company and Wyndham Insurance Company (SAC) Limited Segregated Account AX). As of March 31, 2020, available
borrowing capacity on the line of credit was $19.2 million, with an outstanding balance of $0.9 million for ancillary services and letters of credit, and borrowings
under the facility of $30.0 million, recorded net of financing fees of $0.1 million.

7. Commitments and Contingencies
Certain state insurance regulators in the United States have contacted the Company regarding whether employees who had helped prospective members enroll by
telephone in prior years were required to have an insurance license to conduct such telephone conversations. To date, the Company has resolved each of these
matters in non-material amounts and believes it is compliant with the applicable regulations. The Company is currently engaged with a limited number of state
insurance regulators to resolve this same legacy issue and believes it has adequately reserved for these matters.

In addition, from time to time the Company is or may become subject to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings
against members, other entities or regulatory bodies. Estimated liabilities are recorded when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated. At this time, the Company does not believe any such matters to be material individually or in the aggregate. These views are
subject to change following the outcome of future events or the results of future developments.
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8. Reserve for Veterinary Invoices
The reserve for veterinary invoices is an estimate of the future amount the Company will pay for veterinary invoices that are dated as of, or prior to, its balance
sheet date. The reserve also includes the Company's estimate of related internal processing costs. The reserve estimate involves actuarial projections, and is based
on management's assessment of facts and circumstances currently known, and assumptions about anticipated patterns. The Company uses generally accepted
actuarial methodologies, such as paid loss development methods, in estimating the amount of the reserve for veterinary invoices. The reserve is made for each of
the Company's segments, subscription and other business, and is continually refined as the Company receives and pays veterinary invoices. Changes in
management's assumptions and estimates may have a relatively large impact to the reserve and associated expense.

Reserve for veterinary invoices

Summarized below are the changes in the total liability for the Company's subscription business segment (in thousands):

  Three Months Ended March 31,

Subscription  2020  2019
Reserve at beginning of year  $ 15,541  $ 13,875

Veterinary invoices during the period related to:     
Current year  64,816  53,436
Prior years  372  202

Total veterinary invoice expense  65,188  53,638
Amounts paid during the period related to:     

Current year  54,000  42,650
Prior years  10,765  10,015

Total paid  64,765  52,665
Non-cash expenses  226  201
Reserve at end of period  $ 15,738  $ 14,647

The Company's reserve for the subscription business segment increased from $15.5 million at December 31, 2019 to $15.7 million at March 31, 2020. This change
was comprised of $65.2 million in expense recorded during the period less $64.8 million in payments of veterinary invoices. The $65.2 million in veterinary
invoice expense incurred included an adjustment of $0.4 million to the reserves relating to prior years, which was the result of ongoing analysis of recent payment
trends. For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company increased prior year reserves by $0.2 million as a result of analysis of payment trends.
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Summarized below are the changes in total liability for the Company's other business segment (in thousands):

  Three Months Ended March 31,

Other Business  2020  2019
Reserve at beginning of year  $ 5,653  $ 2,187

Veterinary invoices during the period related to:     
Current year  14,323  7,995
Prior years  129  (351)

Total veterinary invoice expense  14,452  7,644
Amounts paid during the period related to:     

Current year  8,180  5,856
Prior years  4,801  1,447

Total paid  12,981  7,303
Non-cash expenses  —  —
Reserve at end of period  $ 7,124  $ 2,528

The Company’s reserve for the other business segment increased from $5.7 million at December 31, 2019 to $7.1 million at March 31, 2020. This change was
comprised of $14.5 million in expense recorded during the period less $13.0 million in payments of veterinary invoices. The $14.5 million in veterinary invoice
expense incurred included an adjustment of $0.1 million to the reserves relating to prior years, which was the result of ongoing analysis of recent payment trends.
For the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company decreased prior year reserves by $0.4 million as a result of analysis of payment trends.

Reserve for veterinary invoices, by year of occurrence
In the following tables, the reserve for veterinary invoices for each segment is presented as the amount (in thousands) by the year to which the veterinary invoice
relates, referred to as the year of occurrence.

Subscription As of March 31, 2020

Year of Occurrence  
2018 and prior $ 1,229
2019 3,919
2020 10,590

 $ 15,738

Other Business As of March 31, 2020

Year of Occurrence  
2018 and prior $ 46
2019 935
2020 6,143

 $ 7,124
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9. Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense includes stock options, restricted stock awards, and restricted stock units granted to employees and other service providers and
has been reported in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations depending on the function performed by the employee or other service provider. Stock-
based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations was as follows (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2020  2019  
Veterinary invoice expense $ 178  $ 161  
Other cost of revenue 90  86  
Technology and development 100  63  
General and administrative 729  618  
Sales and marketing 556  429  

Total stock-based compensation expense 1,653  1,357  
Capitalized stock-based compensation 53  60  

Total stock-based compensation $ 1,706  $ 1,417  

As of March 31, 2020, the Company had 154,839 unvested stock options and 506,863 unvested restricted stock awards and restricted stock units that are expected
to vest. Stock-based compensation expenses of $1.1 million related to unvested stock options and $14.1 million related to unvested restricted stock awards and
restricted stock units are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 1.0 years and 2.8 years, respectively.

Stock Options

A summary of the Company's stock option activity is as follows:

 Number of Options  

Weighted Average
Exercise Price per

Share  
Aggregate Intrinsic

Value (in thousands)
Outstanding as of December 31, 2019 2,097,978  $ 9.86  $ 57,907

Granted —  —  —
Exercised (48,981)  10.75  1,035
Forfeited (2,602)  16.19  —

Outstanding as of March 31, 2020 2,046,395  9.83  33,155
      

Exercisable as of March 31, 2020 1,891,556  $ 9.19  $ 31,848

As of March 31, 2020, stock options outstanding and stock options exercisable had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 4.8 years and 4.6 years,
respectively.

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units

A summary of the Company’s restricted stock award and restricted stock unit activity is as follows:

 
Number of  

Shares  

Weighted Average 
Grant Date Fair Value

per Share

Unvested shares as of December 31, 2019 581,943  $ 29.56
Granted 41,151  31.67
Vested (102,070)  29.34
Forfeited (14,161)  29.83

Unvested shares as of March 31, 2020 506,863  $ 29.76

10. Leases
The Company leases certain office space and equipment from third parties and recognizes lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an
initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on its consolidated balance sheets.
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The Company also leases a portion of its building to third parties and records related rental income within general and administrative expense in the consolidated
statements of operations. These leases have remaining initial lease terms of 2 years to 8 years, some of which give the tenants options to renew the leases for up to
an additional 10 years, and options to terminate the leases after 3 years of the initial lease terms, with early termination fees required. The Company recorded rental
income of $0.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes the Company's future rental payments to be received from non-cancellable leases in place as of March 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:       
2020      $ 1,460
2021      1,632
2022      1,325
2023      1,367
2024      1,410
Thereafter      1,801
Total rental payments      $ 8,995

11. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock and Preferred Stock

As of March 31, 2020, the Company had 100,000,000 shares of common stock authorized and 35,084,505 shares of common stock outstanding. Holders of
common stock are entitled to one vote on each matter properly submitted to the stockholders of the Company except those related to matters concerning possible
outstanding preferred stock. At March 31, 2020, the Company had 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock authorized for future issuance and did not
have any outstanding shares of preferred stock. The holders of common stock are also entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the board of directors
of the Company, whenever funds are legally available. These rights are subordinate to the dividend rights of holders of any senior classes of stock outstanding at
the time. The Company is unable to pay dividends to stockholders as of March 31, 2020 due to restrictions in its credit agreements.

Share Repurchase Program

In November 2019, the Company's board of directors approved a share repurchase program, pursuant to which the Company may repurchase up to $15.0 million of
its outstanding shares over the twelve-month period following the approval. The Company repurchased 3,300 shares during the three months ended March 31,
2020. The Company did not repurchase any shares during the year ended December 31, 2019.

12. Segments
The Company has two segments: subscription business and other business. The subscription business segment includes revenue and expenses related to monthly
pet insurance subscriptions marketed directly to consumers, while the other business segment includes all other business that is not directly marketed to consumers.

The chief operating decision maker reviews revenue, gross profit, and operating income (loss) to evaluate segment performance. Revenue, veterinary invoice
expense, other cost of revenue, and sales and marketing expenses are generally directly attributed to each segment. Other operating expenses, such as technology
and development expense and general and administrative expense, are allocated proportionately based on revenue in each segment. Interest and other expenses and
income taxes are not allocated to the segments, nor included in the measure of segment profit or loss. The Company does not analyze discrete segment balance
sheet information related to long-term assets.
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Operating income (loss) of the Company’s segments were as follows (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2020  2019  
Subscription business:     

Revenue $ 89,484  $ 74,222  
Veterinary invoice expense 65,188  53,638  
Other cost of revenue 8,234  6,749  

Gross profit 16,062  13,835  
Technology and development 2,287  2,278  
General and administrative 4,435  4,624  
Sales and marketing 10,279  8,097  

Subscription business operating income (loss) (939)  (1,164)  
     
Other business:     

Revenue 21,817  12,756  
Veterinary invoice expense 14,452  7,644  
Other cost of revenue 5,575  3,915  

Gross profit 1,790  1,197  
Technology and development 558  391  
General and administrative 1,081  795  
Sales and marketing 163  130  

Other business operating income (loss) (12)  (119)  
Gain (loss) from investment in joint venture (59)  —  
Total operating income (loss) $ (1,010)  $ (1,283)  

The following table presents the Company’s revenue by geographic region of the member (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2020  2019  
United States $ 92,524  $ 71,157  
Canada 18,777  15,821  
Total revenue $ 111,301  $ 86,978  

Substantially all of the Company’s long-lived assets were located in the United States as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

13. Related Parties
In August 2018, the Company invested $0.3 million in a limited liability entity in exchange of a 17.5% ownership interest. The investee is considered to be a
related party, as the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee. In February 2020, the Company entered into a service agreement
with the investee, under which the Company incurred $0.5 million of expenses for consulting services provided by the investee during the three months ended
March 31, 2020.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview
We provide medical insurance for cats and dogs throughout the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico. Our data-driven, vertically-integrated approach enables us
to provide pet owners with what we believe is the highest value medical insurance for their pets, priced specifically for each pet’s unique characteristics. Our
growing and loyal member base provides us with highly predictable and recurring revenue. We operate our business similar to other subscription-based businesses,
with a focus on maximizing the estimated internal rate of return of an average pet.

We operate in two business segments: subscription business and other business. We generate revenue in our subscription business segment primarily from
subscription fees for our medical insurance, which we market to consumers. Fees are paid at the beginning of each subscription period, which automatically renews
on a monthly basis. We generate revenue in our other business segment by writing policies on behalf of third parties. We do not undertake the marketing efforts for
these policies and have a business-to-business relationship with these third parties. Our other business segment also includes revenue from companies or
organizations that choose to offer medical insurance for cats and dogs as a benefit to their employees or members, and contracts include multiple pets. The
products in our other business segment may be materially different from our subscription business. Our ultimate goal is to build the Trupanion brand by continuing
to offer the highest value proposition in the industry and maintain strong alignment with the veterinary community. We believe our activities in our other business
segment benefit the overall market for pet medical insurance by expanding upon product options and distribution models within other market niches.

We generate leads for our subscription business through both third-party referrals and direct-to-consumer acquisition channels, which we then convert into
members through our website and contact center. Veterinary hospitals represent our largest referral source. We engage our Territory Partners to have face-to-face
visits with veterinarians and their staff. Territory Partners are dedicated to cultivating direct veterinary relationships and building awareness of the benefits of high
quality medical insurance to veterinarians and their clients. Veterinarians then educate pet owners, who visit our website or call our contact center to learn more
about, and potentially enroll in, Trupanion. We also receive a significant number of new leads from existing members adding pets and referring their friends and
family members. Our direct-to-consumer acquisition channels serve as important resources for pet owner education and drive new member leads and conversion.
We monitor average pet acquisition cost to evaluate the efficiency of our sales and marketing programs in acquiring new members and measure effectiveness based
on our targeted return on investment.

Our Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic
Due to the uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, we have taken swift, direct actions to:

• Protect our team. We instituted a work-from-home policy for substantially all employees in early March. This allowed responsible social distancing to
keep our team safe. We are also providing technology support, training and other resources to support our team members during this unique time.

• Leverage our data about COVID-19. There has been understandable concern about whether COVID-19 is communicable to and from pets. Using our
extensive, proprietary database, we have closely monitored veterinary invoice data and shared with veterinarians, our members and the broader
community that, to date, we have not seen any COVID-19-related veterinary invoices.

• Provide relief and support to members. We value our members and understand the economic and health challenges COVID-19 has created for many of
them. We slowed our process on subscription cancellations for failed payments, in most cases extending the time from 30 to 60 days. We also continue to
provide a superior member experience with our claims, call center and broader team working tirelessly to ensure pets receive the care they need during
this pandemic.

• Carefully monitor the financial impact to our business. We have not experienced a material adverse impact on our business due to COVID-19, but we are
carefully monitoring new enrollments and retention, veterinary invoice expense, and other expenses, as well as the impact of COVID-19 on our partners.

The impacts of COVID-19 and related economic conditions on our results are highly uncertain and in many ways outside of our control. The scope, duration and
magnitude of the direct and indirect effects of COVID-19 are evolving rapidly and in ways that are difficult, if possible, to anticipate.
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Key Operating Metrics

The following table sets forth our key operating metrics for our subscription business, and total pets enrolled, for each of the last eight fiscal quarters.

 Three Months Ended

 Mar. 31, 2020  Dec. 31, 2019  Sept. 30, 2019  Jun. 30, 2019  Mar. 31, 2019  Dec. 31, 2018  Sept. 30, 2018  Jun. 30, 2018

Total Business:                
Total pets enrolled (at
period end) 687,435  646,728  613,694  577,686  548,002  521,326  497,942  472,480

Subscription Business:                
Total subscription pets
enrolled (at period end) 508,480  494,026  479,427  461,314  445,148  430,770  416,527  401,033
Monthly average revenue
per pet $ 58.96  $ 58.58  $ 58.12  $ 57.11  $ 56.13  $ 55.15  $ 54.55  $ 53.96
Lifetime value of a pet,
including fixed expenses $ 535  $ 523  $ 511  $ 482  $ 471  $ 449  $ 435  $ 431
Average pet acquisition
cost (PAC) $ 247  $ 222  $ 208  $ 213  $ 205  $ 186  $ 155  $ 150
Average monthly retention 98.59%  98.58%  98.59%  98.57%  98.58%  98.60%  98.61%  98.64%

Total pets enrolled. Total pets enrolled reflects the number of subscription pets or pets enrolled in one of the insurance products offered in our other business
segment at the end of each period presented. We monitor total pets enrolled because it provides an indication of the growth of our consolidated business.

Total subscription pets enrolled. Total subscription pets enrolled reflects the number of pets in active memberships at the end of each period presented. We
monitor total subscription pets enrolled because it provides an indication of the growth of our subscription business.

Monthly average revenue per pet. Monthly average revenue per pet is calculated as amounts billed in a given period for subscriptions divided by the total number
of subscription pet months in the period. Total subscription pet months in a period represents the sum of all subscription pets enrolled for each month during the
period. We monitor monthly average revenue per pet because it is an indicator of the per pet unit economics of our subscription business.

Lifetime value of a pet, including fixed expenses. Lifetime value of a pet, including fixed expenses, is calculated based on gross profit from our subscription
business segment for the 12 months prior to the period end date excluding stock-based compensation expense related to cost of revenue from our subscription
business segment, sign-up fee revenue and the change in deferred revenue between periods. This amount is also reduced by the fixed expenses related to our
subscription business, which are the pro-rata portion of general and administrative and technology expenses, less stock-based compensation and depreciation,
based on revenues. This amount, on a per pet basis, is multiplied by the implied average subscriber life in months. Implied average subscriber life in months is
calculated as the quotient obtained by dividing one by one minus the average monthly retention rate. We monitor lifetime value of a pet, including fixed expenses,
to estimate the value we might expect from new pets over their implied average subscriber life in months, if they behave like the average pet in that respective
period. When evaluating the amount of sales and marketing expenses we may want to incur to attract new pet enrollments, we refer to the lifetime value of a pet,
including fixed expenses, as well as our estimated internal rate of return calculation for an average pet, which also includes an estimated surplus capital charge, to
inform the amount of acquisition spend in relation to the estimated payback period.

Average pet acquisition cost. Average pet acquisition cost (PAC) is calculated as net acquisition cost divided by the total number of new subscription pets enrolled
in that period. Net acquisition cost, a non-GAAP financial measure, is calculated in a reporting period as sales and marketing expense, excluding stock-based
compensation expense and other business segment sales and marketing expense, offset by sign-up fee revenue. We exclude stock-based compensation expense
because the amount varies from period to period based on number of awards issued and market-based valuation inputs. We offset sign-up fee revenue because it is
a one-time charge to new members collected at the time of enrollment used to partially offset initial setup costs, which are included in sales and marketing
expenses. We exclude other business segment sales and marketing expense because that does not relate to subscription enrollments. We monitor average pet
acquisition cost to evaluate the efficiency of our sales and marketing programs in acquiring new members and measure effectiveness based on our desired return on
investment.
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Average monthly retention. Average monthly retention is measured as the monthly retention rate of enrolled subscription pets for each applicable period averaged
over the 12 months prior to the period end date. As such, our average monthly retention rate as of March 31, 2020 is an average of each month’s retention from
April 1, 2019 through March 31, 2020. We calculate monthly retention as the number of pets that remain after subtracting all pets that cancel during a month,
including pets that enroll and cancel within that month, divided by the total pets enrolled at the beginning of that month. We monitor average monthly retention
because it provides a measure of member satisfaction and allows us to calculate the implied average subscriber life in months.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We believe that using net acquisition cost to calculate and present certain of our other key metrics is helpful to our investors and an important tool for financial and
operational decision-making and evaluating our operating results over different periods of time. Measuring net acquisition cost by removing stock-based
compensation expense and other business segment sales and marketing expense offset by sign-up fee revenue provides for a more comparable metric across
periods.

This measure, which is a non-GAAP financial measure, may not provide information that is directly comparable to that provided by other companies in our
industry. In addition, this measure excludes stock-based compensation expense, which has been, and is expected to continue to be for the foreseeable future, a
significant recurring component of our sales and marketing expense. The presentation and utilization of non-GAAP financial measures is not meant to be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for the directly comparable financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The following table reflects the reconciliation of net acquisition cost to sales and marketing expense (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended

 Mar. 31, 2020  Dec. 31, 2019  Sept. 30, 2019  Jun. 30, 2019  Mar. 31, 2019  Dec. 31, 2018  Sept. 30, 2018  Jun. 30, 2018

Sales and marketing expense $ 10,442  $ 9,212  $ 9,255  $ 8,757  $ 8,227  $ 6,994  $ 6,365  $ 5,702
Net of sign-up fee revenue (765)  (730)  (790)  (734)  (703)  (655)  (693)  (624)
Excluding:                
    Stock-based compensation

expense (556)  (547)  (577)  (567)  (429)  (355)  (358)  (349)
    Other business segment sales

and marketing expense (163)  (152)  (94)  (38)  (130)  (102)  (99)  (88)
Net acquisition cost $ 8,958  $ 7,783  $ 7,794  $ 7,418  $ 6,965  $ 5,882  $ 5,215  $ 4,641

Components of Operating Results

General
We operate in two segments: subscription business and other business. Our subscription business segment includes revenue and expenses related to monthly
subscriptions for our pet medical insurance, which we market directly to consumers. When we do not directly market to consumers, we classify the related revenue
and expenses in our other business segment.

Revenue
We generate revenue in our subscription business segment primarily from subscription fees for our pet medical insurance. Fees are paid at the beginning of each
subscription period, which automatically renews on a monthly basis. In most cases, our members authorize us to directly charge their credit card, debit card or bank
account through automatic funds transfer. Subscription revenue is recognized on a pro rata basis over the monthly enrollment term. Membership may be canceled
at any time without penalty, and we issue a refund for the unused portion of the canceled membership.

We generate revenue in our other business segment primarily from writing policies on behalf of third parties where we do not undertake the direct consumer
marketing. This segment includes the writing of policies that may be materially different from our subscription.

Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue in each of our segments is comprised of the following:
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Veterinary invoice expense

Veterinary invoice expense includes our costs to review veterinary invoices, administer the payments, and provide member services, and other operating
expenses directly or indirectly related to this process. We also accrue for veterinary invoices that have been incurred but not yet received. This also
includes amounts paid by unaffiliated general agents, and an estimate of amounts incurred and not yet paid for our other business segment.

Other cost of revenue

Other cost of revenue for the subscription business segment includes direct and indirect member service expenses, Territory Partner renewal fees, credit
card transaction fees and premium tax expenses. Other cost of revenue for the other business segment includes the commissions we pay to unaffiliated
general agents, costs to administer the programs in the other business segment and premium taxes on the sales in this segment.

Operating Expenses
Our operating expenses are classified into three categories: technology and development, general and administrative, and sales and marketing. For each category,
the largest component is personnel costs, which include salaries, employee benefit costs, bonuses and stock-based compensation expense.

Technology and Development
Technology and development expenses primarily consist of personnel costs and related expenses for our technology staff, which includes information
technology development and infrastructure support, third-party services, as well as depreciation of hardware and capitalized software.

General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs and related expenses for our finance, actuarial, human resources, regulatory,
legal and general management functions, as well as facilities and professional services.

Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of the cost to educate veterinarians and consumers about the benefits of Trupanion, to generate leads and
to convert leads into enrolled pets, as well as print, online and promotional advertising costs, and employee compensation and related costs. Sales and
marketing expenses are driven primarily by investments to acquire new members.

Gain (loss) from investment in joint venture
Gain (loss) from investment in joint venture consists of the share of income and losses from our equity method investment in a joint venture, as well as
income and expenses associated with administrative services provided to the joint venture.
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Factors Affecting Our Performance
Average monthly retention. Our performance depends on our ability to continue to retain our existing and newly enrolled pets and is impacted by our ability to
provide a best-in-class value and member experience. Our ability to retain enrolled pets depends on a number of factors, including the actual and perceived value
of our services and the quality of our member experience, the ease and transparency of the process for reviewing and paying veterinary invoices for our members,
and the competitive environment. In addition, other initiatives across our business may temporarily impact retention and make it difficult for us to improve or
maintain this metric. For example, if the number of new pets enrolled increases at a faster rate than our historical experience, our average monthly retention rate
could be adversely impacted, as our retention rate is generally lower during the first year of member enrollment.
Investment in pet acquisition. We have made and plan to continue to make significant investments to grow our member base. Our net acquisition cost and the
number of new members we enroll depends on a number of factors, including the amount we elect to invest in sales and marketing activities in any particular
period in the aggregate and by channel, the frequency of existing members adding a pet or referring their friends or family, effectiveness of our sales execution and
marketing initiatives, changes in costs of media, the mix of our sales and marketing expenditures and the competitive environment. Our average pet acquisition
cost has in the past significantly varied, and in the future may significantly vary, from period to period based upon specific marketing initiatives and estimated rates
of return on pet acquisition spend. We also regularly test new member acquisition channels and marketing initiatives, which may be more expensive than our
traditional marketing channels and may increase our average acquisition costs. We continually assess our sales and marketing activities by monitoring the return on
PAC spend both on a detailed level by acquisition channel and in the aggregate.
Timing of initiatives. Over time we plan to implement new initiatives to improve our member experience, make modifications to our subscription plan and find
other ways to maintain a strong value proposition for our members. These initiatives will sometimes be accompanied by price adjustments, in order to compensate
for an increase in benefits received by our members. The implementation of such initiatives may not always coincide with the timing of price adjustments,
resulting in fluctuations in revenue and gross profit in our subscription business segment.
Geographic mix of sales. The relative mix of our business between the United States and Canada impacts the monthly average revenue per pet we receive. Prices
for our plan in Canada are generally higher than in the United States (in local currencies), which is consistent with the relative cost of veterinary care in each
country. As our mix of business between the United States and Canada changes, our metrics, such as our monthly average revenue per pet, and our exposure to
foreign exchange fluctuations will be impacted. Any expansion into other international markets could have similar effects.
Other business segment. Our other business segment primarily includes revenue and expenses related to policies written on behalf of third parties. This segment
includes the products that have been in the past, and may be in the future, materially different from our subscription. Our relationships in our other business
segment are generally subject to termination provisions and are non-exclusive. Accordingly, we cannot control the volume of business, even if a contract is not
terminated. Loss of an entire program via contract termination could result in the associated policies and revenues being lost over a period of 12 to 18 months,
which could have a material impact on our results of operations. We may enter into additional relationships in the future to the extent we believe they will be
profitable to us, which could also impact our operating results.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented both in absolute dollars and as a percentage of total revenue for those periods. The
period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of future results.

 Three Months Ended March 31,  
 2020  2019  
 (in thousands)

Revenue:     
Subscription business $ 89,484 $ 74,222  
Other business 21,817 12,756  

Total revenue 111,301 86,978  
Cost of revenue:     

Subscription business(1) 73,422  60,387  
Other business 20,027  11,559  

Total cost of revenue 93,449  71,946  
Gross profit:     

Subscription business 16,062  13,835  
Other business 1,790  1,197  

Total gross profit 17,852 15,032  
Operating expenses:     

Technology and development(1) 2,845  2,669  
General and administrative(1) 5,516  5,419  
Sales and marketing(1) 10,442  8,227  

Total operating expenses 18,803  16,315  
Gain (loss) from investment in joint venture (59)  —  
Operating loss (1,010) (1,283)  
Interest expense 379  317  
Other income, net (282)  (344)  
Loss before income taxes (1,107)  (1,256)  
Income tax expense 26  40  
Net loss $ (1,133)  $ (1,296)  

     
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

 Three Months Ended March 31,  
 2020  2019  
 (in thousands)  
Cost of revenue $ 268  $ 247  
Technology and development 100  63  
General and administrative 729  618  
Sales and marketing 556  429  

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 1,653  $ 1,357  
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 Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2020  2019  
 (as a percentage of revenue)
Revenue 100 %  100 %  
Cost of revenue 84  83  
Gross profit 16  17  
Operating expenses:     

Technology and development 3  3  
General and administrative 5  6  
Sales and marketing 9  9  

Total operating expenses 17  19  
Gain (loss) from investment in joint venture —  —  
Operating loss (1)  (1)  
Interest expense —  —  
Other income, net —  —  
Loss before income taxes (1)  (1)  
Income tax expense —  —  
Net loss (1)%  (1)%  

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

 2020  2019  
 (as a percentage of subscription revenue)
Subscription business revenue 100%  100%  
Subscription business cost of revenue 82  81  
Subscription business gross profit 18%  19%  
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
Revenue

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

% Change

 

 2020  2019   
 (in thousands, except percentages, pet and per pet data)
Revenue:       
Subscription business $ 89,484  $ 74,222  21%  
Other business 21,817  12,756  71  

Total revenue $ 111,301  $ 86,978  28  
       

Percentage of Revenue by Segment:       
Subscription business 80%  85%    
Other business 20  15    

Total revenue 100%  100%    
       

Total pets enrolled (at period end) 687,435  548,002  25  
Total subscription pets enrolled (at period end) 508,480  445,148  14  
Monthly average revenue per pet $ 58.96  $ 56.13  5  
Average monthly retention 98.59%  98.58%    

Three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to three months ended March 31, 2019. Total revenue increased by $24.3 million, or 28%, to $111.3 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2020. Revenue from our subscription business segment increased by $15.3 million, or 21%, to $89.5 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2020. This increase in subscription business revenue was primarily due to a 14% increase in total subscription pets enrolled as of
March 31, 2020 compared to March 31, 2019, and an increase in average revenue per pet of 5% for the same period. Increases in pricing were primarily due to the
increased cost and utilization of veterinary care. Revenue from our other business segment increased by $9.1 million, or 71%, to $21.8 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2020, primarily due to an increase in enrolled pets in this segment.
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Cost of Revenue

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

% Change

 

 2020  2019   
 (in thousands, except percentages, pet and per pet data)
Cost of Revenue:       
Subscription business:       

Veterinary invoice expense $ 65,188  $ 53,638  22%  
Other cost of revenue 8,234  6,749  22  

Total cost of revenue 73,422  60,387  22  
Gross profit 16,062  13,835  16  

Other business:       
Veterinary invoice expense 14,452  7,644  89  
Other cost of revenue 5,575  3,915  42  

Total cost of revenue 20,027  11,559  73  
Gross profit $ 1,790  $ 1,197  50  

       

Percentage of Revenue by Segment:       
Subscription business:       

Veterinary invoice expense 73%  72%    
Other cost of revenue 9  9    

Total cost of revenue 82  81    
Gross profit 18  19    

Other business:       
Veterinary invoice expense 66  60    
Other cost of revenue 26  31    

Total cost of revenue 92  91    
Gross profit 8  9    

       

Total pets enrolled (at period end) 687,435  548,002  25  
Total subscription pets enrolled (at period end) 508,480  445,148  14  
Monthly average revenue per pet $ 58.96  $ 56.13  5  

Three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to three months ended March 31, 2019. Cost of revenue for our subscription business segment increased by
$13.0 million, or 22%, to $73.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020. This increase in subscription cost of revenue was primarily the result of a 14%
increase in subscription pets enrolled and an increase of 6% in veterinary invoice expense per pet due to increases in the cost and utilization of veterinary care.
Total cost of revenue for our other business segment increased by $8.5 million, or 73%, to $20.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020, primarily due
to the increase in enrolled pets in this segment.
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Technology and Development Expenses

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

% Change

 
 2020  2019   
 (in thousands, except percentages)

Technology and development $ 2,845  $ 2,669  7%  
Percentage of total revenue 3%  3%    

Three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to three months ended March 31, 2019. Technology and development expenses increased by $0.1 million, or 7%,
for the three months ended March 31, 2020. The change was primarily due to a $0.3 million increase in general technology expenditures, partially offset by a $0.2
million decrease in depreciation and amortization expenses. Technology and development expenses remained consistent at 3% as a percentage of revenue year over
year.

General and Administrative Expenses

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

% Change

 
 2020  2019   
 (in thousands, except percentages)

General and administrative $ 5,516  $ 5,419  2%  
Percentage of total revenue 5%  6%    

Three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to three months ended March 31, 2019. General and administrative expenses increased by $0.1 million, or 2%, to
$5.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020. The change was primarily due to a $0.5 million increase in compensation expenses, partially offset by a
decrease of $0.4 million in legal, regulatory, and professional services fees. General and administrative expenses decreased from 6% to 5% as a percentage of
revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2020, as we experienced scale in our support functions.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

 Three Months Ended March 31,  

% Change

 
 2020  2019   
 (in thousands, except percentages, pet and per pet data)

Sales and marketing $ 10,442  $ 8,227  27%  
Percentage of total revenue 9%  9%    
Subscription Business:       
Total subscription pets enrolled (at period end) 508,480  445,148  14  
Average pet acquisition cost (PAC) $ 247  $ 205  20  

Three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to three months ended March 31, 2019. Sales and marketing expenses increased by $2.2 million, or 27%, to
$10.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020. The change was primarily due to a 23% increase in headcount, as well as an approximate $1.0 million
increase in other sales and marketing initiatives primarily related to conversion. Sales and marketing expenses remained consistent at 9% as a percentage of
revenue year over year.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 Three months ended March 31,

 2020  2019

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,924  $ 3,959
Net cash used in investing activities (7,966)  (9,502)
Net cash provided by financing activities 3,904  5,393
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, net (809)  220
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (1,947)  $ 70

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash provided by operations and available borrowings on our line of credit. We currently have a revolving line of credit of up
to $50.0 million. Our primary requirements for liquidity are paying veterinary invoices, funding operations and capital requirements, investing in new member
acquisition, investing in enhancements to our member experience, and servicing debt.
As of March 31, 2020, we had $103.3 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and $19.2 million available under our line of credit, which
excluded $0.9 million reserved for ancillary services. Most of the assets in our insurance subsidiary, American Pet Insurance Company (APIC), and our segregated
cell business, Wyndham Insurance Company (SAC) Limited (WICL) Segregated Account AX, are subject to certain capital and dividend rules and regulations
prescribed by jurisdictions in which they are authorized to operate. As of March 31, 2020, total assets and liabilities held outside of our insurance entities were
$97.4 million and $46.7 million, respectively, including $5.2 million of cash and cash equivalents that were segregated from other operating funds and held in trust
for the payment of veterinary invoices on behalf of our insurance subsidiaries. For further information, refer to "—Regulation".
We believe our cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and line of credit are sufficient to fund our operations and capital requirements for the next 12
months. As we continue to grow, however, we may explore additional financing to fund our operations or to meet capital requirements. Financing could include
equity, equity-linked, or debt financing. Additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.

In November 2019, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program, pursuant to which we may repurchase up to $15.0 million of our outstanding
shares over the 12 months following the approval. Each quarter throughout this period, we intend to establish repurchase parameters reflecting our business’s
capital allocation priorities, our stock price relative to our estimated intrinsic value, and general market conditions. We cannot predict the timing or extent of any
repurchases of shares of common stock, as such repurchases will depend on a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control. We have repurchased
3,300 shares under this program as of March 31, 2020.

Operating Cash Flows
We derive operating cash flows from the sale of our subscription plans, which is used to pay veterinary invoices and other cost of revenue. Additionally, cash is
used to support the growth of our business by reinvesting to acquire new pet enrollments and to fund projects that improve our members' experience. Cash
provided by operating activities was $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to $4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019.
The change was primarily driven by timing differences between collections from members and payments of veterinary invoices and payments to vendors. Changes
in accounts receivable were primarily related to annual policies with monthly payment terms within our other business segment.

Investing Cash Flows
Cash used in investing activities is primarily related to the net purchase of investments to increase our statutory capital. Net cash used in investing activities
decreased by $1.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 compared to the same period in prior year, primarily due to a $1.5 million additional loan
extended to a variable interest entity in the first quarter of 2019.

Financing Cash Flows

Cash provided by financing activities was $3.9 million and $5.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The decrease of $1.5
million was primarily due to a smaller draw from our line of credit as compared to the prior year.
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Long-Term Debt
Pacific Western Bank Loan and Security Agreement

We have a syndicated loan agreement with Pacific Western Bank (PWB) and Western Alliance Bank (WAB), providing us a revolving line of credit of up to $50.0
million, with a maturity date in June 2022. We refer to this line of credit as our PWB credit facility. The maximum amount available to us under the PWB credit
facility, inclusive of any amounts outstanding under the revolving line of credit, is the lesser of $50.0 million or the total amount of cash and securities held by our
insurance entities, less amounts outstanding relating to other ancillary services and letters of credit, totaling $0.9 million as of March 31, 2020. Interest on the PWB
credit facility accrues at a variable annual rate equal to the greater of 4.5%, or 0.75% plus the prime rate (4.50% at March 31, 2020).
The PWB credit facility requires us to maintain certain financial and non-financial covenants, including maintaining a minimum cash balance of $1.4 million in our
account at WAB and/or WAB affiliates and other cash or investments of $2.1 million in our accounts at PWB. As of March 31, 2020, we were in compliance with
each of the financial and non-financial covenants.
Our obligations under the PWB credit facility are secured by substantially all of our assets and a pledge of certain of our subsidiaries’ stock. As of March 31, 2020,
we had $30.0 million in aggregate borrowings outstanding under the PWB credit facility.

Regulation
As of March 31, 2020, our insurance entities, APIC and WICL Segregated Account AX, held $76.1 million in short-term investments and $81.1 million in other
current assets, including $14.7 million held in cash and cash equivalents to be used for operating expenses of our insurance subsidiaries. Most of the assets in APIC
and WICL Segregated Account AX are subject to certain capital and dividend rules and regulations prescribed by jurisdictions in which they are authorized to
operate.

APIC
The majority of our investments are held by our insurance entities to satisfy risk-based capital requirements of the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners (NAIC). The NAIC requirements provide a method for analyzing the minimum amount of risk-based capital (statutory capital and surplus plus
other adjustments) appropriate for an insurance company to support its overall business operations, taking into account the risk characteristics of the company’s
assets, liabilities and certain other items. An insurance company found to have insufficient statutory capital based on its risk-based capital ratio may be subject to
varying levels of additional regulatory oversight depending on the level of capital inadequacy. APIC must hold certain capital amounts in order to comply with the
statutory regulations and, therefore, we cannot use these amounts for general operating purposes without regulatory approval. As our business grows, the amount of
capital we are required to maintain to satisfy our risk-based capital requirements may increase significantly. As of December 31, 2019, APIC was required to
maintain at least $55.3 million of risk-based capital to avoid this additional regulatory oversight. As of that date, APIC maintained $73.8 million of risk-based
capital.

WICL Segregated Account AX
WICL Segregated Account AX was established by WICL, with Trupanion, Inc. as the shareholder, to enter into a reinsurance agreement with Omega General
Insurance Company. All of the assets and liabilities of WICL Segregated Account AX are legally segregated from other assets and liabilities within WICL, and all
shares of the segregated account are owned by Trupanion, Inc. During February 2020, our parent entity received a dividend of $4.7 million from WICL Segregated
Account AX as allowed under our agreements with WICL. As required by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions regulations related to our
reinsurance agreement with Omega General Insurance Company, we are required to maintain a Canadian Trust account with the greater of CAD $2.0 million or
115% of unearned Canadian premium plus 15% of outstanding Canadian claims, including all incurred but not reported claims. As of December 31, 2019, the
account held CAD $4.3 million.
Though we are not directly regulated by the Bermuda Monetary Authority (BMA), WICL's regulation and compliance impacts us as it could have an adverse
impact on the ability of WICL Segregated Account AX to pay dividends. WICL is regulated by the BMA under the Insurance Act of 1978 (Insurance Act) and the
Segregated Accounts Company Act of 2000. The Insurance Act imposes on Bermuda insurance companies, solvency and liquidity standards, certain restrictions on
the declaration and payment of dividends and distributions, certain restrictions on the reduction of statutory capital, and auditing and reporting requirements, and
grants the BMA powers to supervise and, in certain circumstances, to investigate and intervene in the affairs of insurance companies. Under the Insurance Act,
WICL, as a class 3 insurer, is required to maintain available statutory capital and surplus at a level equal to or in excess of a prescribed minimum established by
reference to net written premiums and loss reserves.
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Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, as amended, a Bermuda company may not declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if
there are reasonable grounds for believing that: (a) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the
realizable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than its liabilities. The Segregated Accounts Company Act of 2000 further requires that dividends
out of a segregated account can only be paid to the extent that the cell remains solvent and the value of its assets remain greater than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Contractual Obligations
We enter into long-term contractual obligations and commitments in the normal course of business, primarily debt obligations and non-cancellable vendor service
agreements. Management believes there have been no material changes to our contractual obligation disclosure as of March 31, 2020, compared to those discussed
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenue and
expenses during the reporting periods.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations because
they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently
uncertain. Generally, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to those described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks
Management believes there have been no material changes to our quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risks during the three months ended March
31, 2020, compared to those discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a- 15(e) and 15d- 15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective.
Changes in Internal Control

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the
Exchange Act during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we are subject to litigation matters and claims arising from the ordinary course of business, including, but not limited to, claims of alleged
infringement of trademarks, copyrights, and other intellectual property rights; employment claims; coverage disputes with policyholders; disputes regarding
general contracts; and regulatory or governmental investigations or disputes. We record an estimated liability relating to such matters when it is both probable that
a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The outcomes of legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable, subject to
significant uncertainties, and could be material to our operating results for a particular period. We review our estimates at least quarterly and makes adjustments to
reflect the outcome of negotiations, estimated settlements, legal rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular matter.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of
the other information in this report, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes, as well as in our other filings with the SEC, in
evaluating our business and before investing in our common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks
and uncertainties that are not expressly stated, that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that
affect us. If any of the following risks occur, our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects could be materially harmed. In that event, the
price of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
Our results of operations may be adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

The global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic and related containment efforts have created significant economic disruption. To date, the pandemic has not had a
material adverse impact on our business, although we expect that our near-term growth rate may decline slightly. For example, COVID-19 has resulted in a
significant unemployment. The related economic impact on consumers may result in decreased new enrollments and increased cancellations. Our Territory
Partners are less able to drive new enrollments by conducting face-to-face visits with veterinarians and their staff. In addition, veterinarians have reported that pets
may contract COVID-19, and the extent to which COVID-19 may be communicable among humans, dogs and cats and its health impact on pets is somewhat
uncertain. An increase in COVID-19 among pets may cause our veterinary invoice expense to increase. Meanwhile, while we are not currently experiencing any
meaningful decreases in veterinary invoice expenses, many insurance companies within the property and casualty insurance space are providing refunds to
policyholders in light of reduced claims trends they are experiencing, and it is possible that state insurance regulators may require us to change our behavior. In
addition, the duration of the pandemic, whether it may recur, and its other long-term impacts are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. These risks and
uncertainties make it challenging to manage our growth, maintain business relationships, price our subscription and otherwise plan for our business.

In accordance with local and state directives, we have shifted our operations from our corporate office facility located in Seattle, Washington, and substantially all
of our personnel are working from home. We have not conducted business in this manner previously, do not know how long we may need to continue in this
manner, and may experience reduced productivity of our employees, greater exposure to cybersecurity threats, or other operational risks. Similarly, many of our
Territory Partners, our vendors, the businesses for which we write policies in our other business segment, and our strategic partners are working from home, and
many veterinary hospitals are working at reduced staffing levels. The extent to which these parties suffer inefficiencies or other risks from their work-from-home
arrangements, and the extent to which those risks may impact us, is impossible to predict.

We have incurred significant cumulative net losses since our inception and may not be able to maintain profitability in the future.
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We have incurred significant cumulative net losses since our inception. We incurred net losses of $1.8 million and $0.9 million in the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively, and as of December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $85.5 million. We have funded our operations through equity
financings, borrowings under a revolving line of credit and term loans and, since 2016, positive cash flows from operations. Our ability to maintain profitability
will depend in significant part on our obtaining new members, retaining our existing members and ensuring that our expenses, including our sales and marketing
expenses, does not exceed our revenue. We expect to make significant expenditures and investments in member acquisition. Our recent growth in revenue and
membership may not be sustainable or may decrease, and we may not generate sufficient revenue to maintain profitability. Additionally, we budget for our
expenses based, in significant part, on our estimates of future revenue and many of these expenses are fixed in the short term. As a result, we may be unable to
adjust our spending in a timely manner if our revenue falls short of our estimates. Accordingly, any significant shortfall of revenue in relation to our estimates
could have an immediate negative effect on our financial results.

We may not maintain our current rate of revenue growth.

Our revenue has increased quickly and substantially in recent periods. We believe that our continued revenue growth will depend on, among other factors, our
ability to:

• improve our market penetration through cost-efficient and effective sales and marketing programs to attract new members;
• convert leads into enrollments;
• maintain high retention rates;
• increase the lifetime value per pet;
• maintain positive relationships with veterinarians and other lead sources;
• maintain positive relationships with and increase the number and efficiency of Territory Partners;
• continue to offer a superior value with competitive features and rates;
• price our subscriptions in relation to actual operating expenses and achieve required regulatory approval for pricing changes;
• recruit, integrate and retain skilled, qualified and experienced sales department professionals who can demonstrate our value proposition to new and

existing members;
• provide our members with superior member service, including timely and efficient payment of veterinary invoices, and by recruiting, integrating and

retaining skilled and experienced personnel who can efficiently review veterinary invoices and process payments;
• generate new and maintain existing relationships and programs in our other business segment;
• react to existing and new competitors;
• increase awareness of and positive associations with our brand;
• react to unexpected developments and general macroeconomic conditions, including pandemics and related economic impacts; and
• successfully respond to and comply with regulations affecting our business and defend or prosecute any litigation.

You should not rely on our historical rate of revenue growth as an indication of our future performance.

We base our decisions regarding member acquisition expenditures primarily on the projected internal rate of return on marketing spend. Our estimates and
assumptions may not accurately reflect our future results - we may overspend on member acquisition, and we may not be able to recover our member
acquisition costs or generate profits from these investments.

We have made and plan to continue to make significant investments to grow our member base. We spent $33.3 million on sales and marketing to acquire new
members for the year ended December 31, 2019. Our average pet acquisition cost and the number of new pets we enroll depends on a number of factors and
assumptions, including the effectiveness of our sales execution and marketing initiatives, changes in costs of media, the mix of our sales and marketing
expenditures and the competitive environment. Our average pet acquisition cost has increased over time and has significantly varied in the past. In the future, our
average pet acquisition cost may continue to rise and significantly vary period to period based upon specific marketing initiatives. We also regularly test new
member acquisition channels and marketing initiatives, which often are more expensive than our traditional marketing channels and generally increase our average
acquisition costs.

In addition, we base our decisions regarding our member acquisition expenditures primarily on our internal rate of return generated on an average pet. This analysis
depends substantially on estimates and assumptions based on our historical experience with pets enrolled in earlier periods, including our key operating metrics. If
our estimates and assumptions regarding our internal rate of return and the lifetime value of the pets that we project to acquire and our related decisions regarding
investments in member acquisition prove incorrect, or if our calculation of internal rate of return and lifetime value of the pets that we project to acquire differs
significantly from that of pets acquired in prior periods, we may be unable to recover our member acquisition costs or generate profits from our investment in
acquiring new members. Moreover, if our member acquisition costs increase or we invest in member acquisition channels that do not ultimately result in any or an
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adequate number of new member enrollments, the return on our investment may be lower than we anticipate irrespective of the lifetime value of the pets that we
project to acquire as a result of the new members. If we cannot generate profits from this investment, we may need to alter our growth strategy, and our growth rate
and operating results may be adversely affected.

We depend in part on Internet search engines to attract potential new members to visit our website. If Internet search engines’ methodologies are modified or
our search result page rankings decline for other reasons, our new member growth could decline, and our business and operating results could be harmed.

We derive a significant amount of traffic to our website from consumers who search for pet medical insurance through Internet search engines, such as Google,
Bing and Yahoo!. A critical factor in attracting consumers searching for pet medical insurance on the Internet to our website is whether we are prominently
displayed in response to an Internet search relating to pet insurance. Algorithmic search result listings are determined and displayed in accordance with a set of
formulas or algorithms developed by the particular Internet search engine, which may change from time to time. If we are listed less prominently in, or removed
altogether from, search result listings for any reason, the traffic to our websites would decline and we may not be able to replace this traffic, which in turn would
harm our business, operating results and financial condition. If we decide to attempt to replace this traffic, we may be required to increase our sales and marketing
expenditures, including by utilizing paid search advertising. Certain of our competitors have spent additional funds to promote their products in search results over
us. If we decide to respond by purchasing search advertising, our pet acquisition costs would increase which may harm our business, operating results and financial
condition.

If we are unable to grow our member base and maintain high member retention rates, our growth prospects and revenue will be adversely affected.

Our ability to grow our business depends on retaining and expanding our member base. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we generated 83.7% of our revenue
from subscriptions. In order to continue to increase our membership, we must continue to convince prospective members of the benefits of pet insurance and
existing members of the continuing value of our product.

We utilize Territory Partners, who are paid fees based on enrollments in their regions, to communicate the benefits of medical insurance to veterinarians through
in-person visits. Veterinarians then educate pet owners, who visit our website or call our contact center to learn more about these benefits, and potentially become
members. We also invest in other third-party and direct to consumer member acquisition channels, though we have limited experience with some of them. We plan
to expand the number of our Territory Partners and other lead-generation sources and to engage in other marketing activities, including direct to consumer
advertising, which are likely to increase our acquisition costs. In addition, these plans may face unexpected delays, costs or other challenges, such as decreased
ability of Territory Partners to conduct in-person veterinarian or less effective development of other third-party relationships.

We seek to convert consumers who visit our website and call our contact center into members. The rate at which we convert these visitors into members is a
significant factor in the growth of our member base. A number of factors have influenced, and could in the future influence, the conversion rates for any given
period, some of which are outside of our control. These factors include:

• the competitiveness of our subscription, including its perceived value, simplicity, and fairness;
• changes in consumer shopping behaviors due to circumstances outside of our control, such as economic conditions and consumers’ ability or willingness

to pay for our product;
• regulatory requirements, including those that make the experience on our website cumbersome or difficult to navigate or that hinder our ability to speak

with potential members quickly and in a way that is conducive to conversion;
• system failures or interruptions in our website or contact center; and
• changes in the mix of consumers who learn about us through various member acquisition channels.

We have made and plan to continue to make substantial investments in features and functionality for our website and training and staffing for our contact center
that are designed to generate traffic, increase member engagement and improve member service. These activities do not directly generate revenue, however, and
we may never realize any benefit from these investments. If the expenses that we incur in connection with these activities do not result in sufficient growth in
members to offset the cost, our business, operating results and financial condition will be adversely affected.

We have historically experienced high average monthly retention rates. For example, our average monthly retention rate between 2010 and 2019 was 98.5%. We
expect to continue to make significant expenditures relating to the retention of existing members, including an increase in the number of inside account managers
and development and implementation of new technology platforms designed to encourage retention of these members.
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If we do not retain our existing members or if our marketing initiatives do not result in enrolling more pets or result in enrolling pets that inherently have a lower
retention rate, we may not be able to maintain our retention and new member acquisition rates. Members we obtain through aggressive promotions or other
channels that involve relatively less meaningful contact between us and the member are more likely to terminate their subscription. In the past, we have
experienced reduced retention rates during periods of rapid member growth, as our retention rate generally has been lower during the first year of member
enrollment. Members may choose to terminate their subscription for a variety of reasons, including perceived or actual lack of value, delays or other unsatisfactory
experiences in how we review and process veterinary invoice payments, unsatisfactory member service, an economic downturn, increased subscription fees, loss of
a pet, a more attractive offer from a competitor, changes in our subscription or other reasons, including reasons that are outside of our control. Our cost of
acquiring a new member is substantially greater than the cost involved in maintaining our relationship with an existing member. If we are not able to successfully
retain existing members and limit terminations, our revenue and operating margins will be adversely impacted and our business, operating results and financial
condition would be harmed.

We rely significantly on Territory Partners, veterinarians and other third parties, including strategic partners, to generate leads.

In order for us to implement our business strategy and grow our revenue, we must effectively maintain and increase the number and quality of our relationships
with Territory Partners, veterinarians, existing members, online and other businesses, animal shelters, breeders and veterinary affiliates, including veterinarian
purchasing groups and associations and other referral sources, and continue to scale and improve our processes, programs and procedures that support them. Those
processes, programs and procedures could become increasingly complex and difficult to manage as we grow.

Veterinary leads represent our largest member acquisition channel. We spend significant time and resources attracting qualified Territory Partners and providing
them with current information about our business and they, in turn, communicate the benefits of medical insurance for pets to veterinarians. Our relationship with
our Territory Partners may be terminated at any time (for instance, if they feel unsupported or undervalued by us), and, if terminated, we may not recoup the costs
associated with educating them about our subscription or be able to maintain any relationships they may have developed with veterinarians within their territories.
Sometimes a single relationship may be used to cover multiple territories so that a terminated relationship could significantly affect our company. Further, if we
experience an increase in the rate at which Territory Partner relationships are terminated, we may not develop or maintain relationships with veterinarians as
quickly as we have in the past or need to in order to implement our business strategy and our growth and financial performance could be adversely affected.

Our ability to generate leads through veterinary hospitals could be negatively impacted if our policy is perceived to be inadequate, unreliable, cumbersome or
otherwise does not provide sufficient value, or if our process for paying veterinary invoices is unsatisfactory to the veterinarians’ clients.

If we fail to establish or are unable to maintain our existing member acquisition channels and/or continue to add new member acquisition channels, if the cost of
our existing sources increases or does not scale as we anticipate, or if we are unable to continue to use any existing channels or programs in any jurisdiction,
including our exam day offer program, our member levels and sales and marketing expenses may be adversely affected.

Territory Partners are independent contractors and, as such, may pose additional risks to our business.

Territory Partners are independent contractors and, accordingly, we do not directly provide the same direction, motivation and oversight over Territory Partners as
we otherwise could if Territory Partners were our own employees. Further, Territory Partners may themselves employ or engage others; we refer to these partners
and their associates, collectively, as our Territory Partners. We do not control a Territory Partner’s employment or engagement of others, and it is possible that the
actions of their employees and/or contractors could create threatened or actual legal proceedings against us.

Territory Partners may decide not to participate in our marketing initiatives and/or training opportunities, accept our introduction of new solutions or comply with
our policies and procedures applicable to them, any of which may adversely affect our ability to develop relationships with veterinarians and grow our
membership. Our sole recourse against Territory Partners who fail to perform is to terminate their contract, which could also trigger contractually obligated
termination payments or result in disputes, including threatened or actual legal or regulatory proceedings.

We believe that Territory Partners are not and should not be classified as employees under existing interpretations of the applicable laws of the jurisdictions in
which we operate. We do not pay or withhold any employment tax with respect to or on behalf of Territory Partners or extend any benefits to them that we
generally extend to our employees, and we otherwise treat Territory Partners as independent contractors. Applicable authorities or the Territory Partners have in the
past questioned and may in the future challenge this classification. Further, the applicable laws or regulations, including tax laws or interpretations, may change. If
it were determined that we had misclassified any of our Territory Partners, we may be subjected to penalties and/or be required to pay withholding taxes, extend
employee benefits, provide compensation for unpaid overtime, or otherwise incur substantially greater expenses with respect to Territory Partners. In addition, the
costs associated with defending, settling, or resolving pending and future lawsuits (including demands for arbitration) relating to the independent contractor status
of
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Territory Partners could be material to our business.

Any of the foregoing circumstances could have a material adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.

The prices of our subscriptions are based on assumptions and estimates. If our actual experience differs from the assumptions and estimates used in pricing
our subscriptions or if we are unable to obtain any necessary regulatory approval for our pricing, our revenue and financial condition could be adversely
affected.

The pricing of our subscriptions reflects amounts we expect to pay for a pet’s medical care and we derive these prices from assumptions that we make based on our
analytics platform. Our analytics platform draws upon pet data we collect and we use this data to price our policy in response to a number of factors, including a
pet’s species, breed, age, gender and location. Factors related to pet location include the current and assumed changes in the cost and availability of veterinary
technology and treatments and local veterinary hospital preferences. The assumptions we make about breeds and other factors in pricing may prove to be
inaccurate and, accordingly, these pricing analytics may not accurately reflect the expense that we will ultimately incur. Furthermore, if any of our competitors
develop similar or better data systems, adopt similar or better underwriting criteria and pricing models or receive our data, our competitive advantage could decline
or be lost.

The prices of our subscriptions also reflect assumptions and estimates regarding our own operating costs and expenses. We monitor and manage our pricing and
overall sales mix to achieve our target returns. If the actual costs, including veterinary invoice expenses, operating costs and expenses within anticipated pricing
allowances, are greater than our assumptions and estimates such that the premiums we collect are insufficient to cover these expenses, then our gross profit could
be adversely affected and our revenue may be insufficient to maintain profitability. Conversely, if our pricing assumptions differ from actual results such that we
overprice risks, our competitiveness and growth prospects could be adversely affected.

In addition, many states have adopted laws or are considering proposed legislation that, among other things, limit the ability of insurance companies to effect rate
increases or to cancel, reduce or not renew existing policies, and many state regulators have the power to reduce, or to disallow increases in premium rates. Most
states require licensure and regulatory approval prior to marketing new insurance products. Our practice has been to regularly reevaluate the price of our
subscriptions, with any pricing changes implemented at least annually, subject to the review and approval of the state regulators, who may reduce or disallow our
pricing changes. Such review has often in the past resulted, and may in the future result, in delayed implementation of pricing changes and prevent us from making
changes we believe are necessary to achieve our targeted payout ratio, which could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. If external factors
caused veterinary invoice expenses to significantly decrease, the review and approval of our proposed pricing may be impacted. In addition, we may be prevented
by regulators from limiting significant pricing changes, requiring us to raise rates more quickly than we otherwise may desire. This could damage our reputation
with our members and reduce our retention rates, which could significantly damage our brand, result in the loss of expected revenue and otherwise harm our
business, operating results and financial condition.

Our actual veterinary invoice expense may exceed our current reserve established for veterinary invoices and may adversely affect our operating results and
financial condition.

Our recorded reserve for veterinary invoices is based on our best estimates of the amount of veterinary invoices we expect to pay, inclusive of an estimate for
veterinary invoices we have not yet received, after considering internal factors, including data from our proprietary data analytics platform, experience with similar
cases, actual veterinary invoices paid, historical trends involving veterinary invoice payment patterns, patterns of receipt of veterinary invoices, seasonality,
pending levels of unpaid veterinary invoices, veterinary invoice processing programs and contractual terms. We may also consider external factors, including
changes in the law, court decisions, changes to regulatory requirements and economic conditions. Because reserves are estimates of veterinary invoices that have
been incurred but are not yet submitted to us, setting appropriate reserves is an inherently uncertain and complex process that involves significant subjective
judgment. Further, we do not transfer or cede our risk as an insurer and, therefore, we maintain more risk than we would if we purchased reinsurance.

Rising costs of veterinary care and the increasing availability and usage of more expensive, technologically advanced medical treatments may increase the amounts
of veterinary invoices we receive. Increases in the number of veterinary invoices we receive could arise from unexpected events that are inherently difficult to
predict, such as a pandemic that spreads through the pet population, tainted pet food or supplies or an unusually high number of serious injuries or illnesses. We
may experience volatility in the number of veterinary invoices we receive from time to time, and short-term trends may not continue over the longer term. The
number of veterinary invoices may be affected by the level of care and attentiveness an owner provides to the pet, the pet’s breed and age (at enrollment) and other
factors outside of our control, as well as fluctuations in member retention rates and by new member initiatives that encourage an increase in veterinary invoices and
other new member acquisition activities.

The ultimate cost of paying veterinary invoices and the related administration may vary materially from recorded reserves, and such variance may result in
adjustments to the reserve for veterinary invoices, which could have a material effect on our operating results and resources available for acquiring additional
members.
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If more veterinary hospitals install and use our patented proprietary software, the number or amounts of veterinary invoices we receive is likely to increase.

Our patented proprietary software is designed to integrate directly with most software systems used by veterinary hospitals and allow us to receive and pay
veterinarian invoices directly. We believe that it is critical to our long-term success to improve the member experience so we encourage veterinary hospitals to
install and use our software. We have found that installation and use of our software by a veterinary hospital could increase the number of invoices we receive from
that practice. As more veterinary hospitals install our software, we expect the number or amounts of veterinary invoices to increase and result in an increase in our
cost of revenue, which may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Our use of capital may be constrained by risk-based capital regulations or contractual obligations.

Our subsidiary, APIC, is subject to risk-based capital regulations that require us to maintain certain levels of surplus to support our overall business operations in
consideration of our size and risk profile. We have in the past and may in the future fail to maintain the amount of risk-based capital required to avoid additional
regulatory oversight, which was $55.3 million as of December 31, 2019. We are also subject to a contractual obligation related to our reinsurance agreement with
Omega, who writes our policies in Canada. Under this agreement, we are required to fund a Canadian trust account in accordance with Canadian regulations. As of
December 31, 2019, the account held CAD $4.3 million.

To comply with these regulations and contractual obligations, we may be required to maintain capital that we would otherwise invest in our growth and operations,
which may require us to modify our operating plan or marketing initiatives, delay the implementation of new solutions or development of new technologies,
decrease the rate at which we hire additional personnel and enter into relationships with Territory Partners, incur indebtedness or pursue equity or debt financings
or otherwise modify our business operations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Our success depends on our ability to review, process, and pay veterinary invoices timely and accurately.

We believe member satisfaction depends on our ability to accurately evaluate and pay veterinary invoices in a timely manner. Many factors can affect our ability to
do this, including the training, experience and skill of our personnel, our ability to reduce the number of payment requests made for services not included in our
subscription, effectiveness of management, our ability to develop or select and implement appropriate procedures, supporting technologies and systems, changes in
our policy and veterinarian compliance with our protocols and procedures. Our failure to pay veterinary invoices, accurately and in a timely manner, or to deploy
resources appropriately, could result in unanticipated costs to us, lead to material litigation, undermine member goodwill and our reputation, and impair our brand
image and, as a result, materially and adversely affect our competitiveness, financial results, prospects and liquidity.

We may not identify fraudulent or improperly inflated veterinary invoices.

It is possible that a member, or a third-party could submit a veterinary invoice which we would then pay that appears authentic but in fact does not reflect services
provided or products purchased for which the member paid. It is also possible that veterinarians will charge insured customers higher amounts than they would
charge their non-insured clients for the same service or product. Such activity could lead to unanticipated costs to us and/or to time and expense to recover such
costs. They could also lead to strained relationships with veterinarians and/or members, and could adversely affect our competitiveness, financial results and
liquidity.

We are and will continue to be faced with many competitive challenges, any of which could adversely affect our prospects, operating results and financial
condition.

We compete with pet owners that self-finance unexpected veterinary invoices with savings or credit, as well as traditional “pet insurance” providers and relatively
new entrants into our market. The vast majority of pet owners in the United States and Canada do not currently have medical insurance for their pets. We are
focused primarily on expanding our share of the overall market, and we view our primary competitive challenge as educating pet owners on why our subscription
is a better alternative to self-financing.

Additionally, there are traditional insurance companies that provide pet insurance products, either as a stand-alone product or along with a broad range of other
insurance products, such as wellness. In addition, new entrants backed by large insurance companies, such as Marsh, Nationwide, and Geico, have attempted to
enter the pet insurance market in the past and may do so again in the future. Further, traditional “pet insurance” providers may consolidate or take other actions to
mimic the efficiencies from our vertically-integrated structure or create other operational efficiencies, which could lead to increased competition.

Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, larger customer bases, greater brand recognition and significantly greater financial,
technical, marketing and other resources than we do. Some of our competitors may be able to undertake more extensive marketing initiatives for their brands and
services, devote more resources to website and systems development and make offers that are more attractive to potential employees, referral sources and third-
party service providers.
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To compete effectively, we believe we will need to continue to invest significant resources in sales and marketing, in improving our member service levels, in the
online experience and functionalities of our website and in other technologies and infrastructure. Failure to compete effectively against our current or future
competitors could result in loss of current or potential members, which could adversely affect our pricing, lower our revenue, prevent us from maintaining
profitability and diminish our brand strength.

If we are unable to maintain and enhance our brand recognition and reputation, our business and operating results will be harmed.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing our brand recognition and reputation is critical to our relationships with existing members, Territory Partners,
veterinarians and others, and to our ability to attract new members, new Territory Partners, and additional supportive veterinarians. We also believe that the
importance of our brand recognition and reputation will continue to increase as competition in our market continues to develop and mature. Our success in this area
will depend on a wide range of factors, some of which are out of our control, including the following:

• the efficacy and viability of our sales and marketing programs;
• the perceived value of our subscription;
• the quality of service provided, including the fairness, ease and timeliness of reviewing and paying veterinary invoices;
• actions of our competitors, Territory Partners, veterinarians and others;
• positive or negative publicity, including regulatory pronouncements and material on the Internet or social media;
• regulatory and other government-related developments; and
• litigation-related developments.

The promotion of our brand will require us to make substantial investments, and we anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive, these
branding initiatives may become increasingly difficult and expensive. For instance, we have found that search engine optimization costs have increased as
competitors have spent additional funds to promote their products in search results over us. Our brand promotion activities may not be successful or yield increased
revenue, and to the extent that these activities result in increased revenue, the increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur and our operating results
could be harmed. If we do not successfully maintain and enhance our brand, our business may not grow and could be adversely affected, which would harm our
business, operating results and financial condition.

Furthermore, negative publicity, whether or not justified, relating to events or activities attributed to us, our employees, our strategic partners, our affiliates, or
others associated with any of these parties, may tarnish our reputation and reduce the value of our brands. Damage to our reputation and loss of brand equity may
reduce demand for our services and have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. Moreover, any attempts to rebuild our
reputation and restore the value of our brands may be costly and time consuming, and such efforts may not ultimately be successful.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and scale the infrastructure necessary to operate our technology platform and could be adversely affected by a
system failure.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain and scale the infrastructure necessary to operate our technology platform, which includes our analytics and pricing
engine, systems for managing veterinary invoice payments, customer relationship management system, billing system, contact center phone system and website.
We use these technology frameworks to price our subscriptions, enroll members, engage with current members and pay veterinary invoices. Our members review
and purchase subscriptions through our website and contact center, and for those veterinary hospitals who have installed our patented proprietary software, we
receive and pay veterinarian invoices directly through our software. Our reputation and ability to acquire, retain and serve our members depends on the reliable
performance of our technology platform and the underlying network systems and infrastructure, and on providing best-in-class member service, including through
our contact center and website. As our member base continues to grow, the amount of information collected and stored on the systems and infrastructure
supporting our technology platform will continue to grow, and we expect to require an increasing amount of network capacity, computing power and information
technology personnel to develop and maintain our technology platform and service our departments involved in member interaction.
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We have made, and expect to continue to make, substantial investments in equipment and related network infrastructure to handle the operational demands on our
technology platform, including increasing data collection, software development, traffic on our website and the volume of calls at our contact center. The operation
of the systems and infrastructure supporting our technology platform is expensive and complex and could experience operational failures. In the event that our data
collection, member base or amount of traffic on these systems grows more quickly than anticipated, we may be required to incur significant additional costs to
increase the capacity in our systems. Further, our development and implementation activities may not be successful, may not be well-received by veterinarians or
by new or existing members, particularly if they are costly, cumbersome or unreliable, and we may incur delays or cost overruns or elect to curtail our currently
planned expenditures related to them. Even if our system improvements are well-received, they may be or become obsolete due to technological reasons or the
availability of alternative solutions in the marketplace. If new solutions and enhancements are not successful on a long-term basis, we may not realize benefits
from these investments, and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

In addition, any system failure that causes an interruption in or decreases the responsiveness of our services could impair our revenue-generating capabilities, harm
our business and operating results and damage our reputation. In addition, any loss or mishandling of data could result in breach of confidence, competitive
disadvantage or loss of members, and subject us to potential liability. Any failure of the systems and infrastructure that we rely on could negatively impact our
enrollments as well as our relationship with members. If we do not maintain or expand the systems and infrastructure underlying our technology platform
successfully, or if we experience operational failures, our reputation could be harmed and we could lose current and potential members, which could harm our
operating results and financial condition.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.

We have recently experienced, and expect to continue to experience, significant growth, which has placed, and may continue to place, significant demands on our
management and our operational and financial systems and infrastructure. We expect that our growth strategy will require us to commit substantial financial,
operational and technical resources and this commitment may also result in increased costs (such as member acquisition costs or costs associated with increases in
the number or amounts of veterinary invoices received) generated by our business, which could prevent us from remaining profitable and could impair our ability
to compete effectively for business. If we do not effectively manage growth at any time, our financial condition could be harmed and the quality of our services
could suffer.

In order to successfully expand our business, we need to hire, integrate and retain highly skilled and motivated employees and continue to improve our existing
systems for operational and financial management. These improvements could require significant capital expenditures and place increasing demands on our
management. If we do not successfully implement improvements in these areas, our business, operating results and financial condition will be harmed.

Emerging claim and coverage issues may adversely affect our business.

As industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other environmental conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims and coverage may
emerge, including new or expanded theories of liability. These or other changes could impose new financial obligations on us by extending coverage beyond our
underwriting intent or otherwise require us to make unplanned modifications to the products and services that we provide, or cause the delay or cancellation of
products and services that we provide. In some instances, these changes may not become apparent until sometime after we have issued subscriptions that are
affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under our subscriptions may not be known for many years after subscription begins.

Our operating results may vary, which could make period-to-period comparisons less meaningful, and make our future results difficult to predict.

We may experience fluctuations in our revenue, expenses and operating results in future periods. Our operating results may fluctuate in the future as a result of a
number of factors, many of which are beyond our control. These fluctuations may make comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis less
meaningful and make our future results difficult to predict. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. In addition, if
revenue levels do not meet our expectations, our operating results and ability to execute on our business plan are likely to be harmed.

Seasonal or periodic variations in the behavior of our members also may cause fluctuations in our financial results. Enrollment in our subscription tends to be
discretionary in nature and may be sporadic, reflecting overall economic conditions, budgeting constraints, pet-buying patterns and a variety of other factors, many
of which are outside our control. For example, we have experienced some effects of seasonal trends in visits to veterinarians in the fourth quarter and in the
beginning of the first quarter of each year in connection with the traditional holiday season. While we believe seasonal trends have affected and will continue to
affect our quarterly results, our growth may have overshadowed these effects to date. We believe that our business will continue to be subject to seasonality in the
future, which may result in fluctuations in our financial results.
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Due to these and other factors, our financial results for any quarterly or annual period may not meet our expectations or the expectations of investors or analysts
that follow our stock and may not be meaningful indications of our future performance.

Mergers or other strategic transactions involving our competitors could weaken our competitive position, which could adversely affect our ability to compete
effectively and harm our results of operations.

Our industry is highly fragmented, and we believe it is likely that some of our existing competitors will consolidate or be acquired. In addition, some of our
competitors may enter into new alliances with each other or may establish or strengthen cooperative relationships with systems integrators, third-party consulting
firms or other parties. Any such consolidation, acquisition, alliance or cooperative relationship could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively and lead to
pricing pressure and our loss of market share and could result in a competitor with greater financial, technical, marketing, service and other resources, all of which
could harm our business, financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

We depend on key personnel to operate our business and, if we are unable to retain, attract and integrate qualified personnel, our ability to develop and
successfully grow our business could be harmed.

Our success depends to a significant extent on the continued services of our current management team, including Darryl Rawlings, our founder and Chief
Executive Officer. The loss of Mr. Rawlings or several other key executives or employees within a short time frame could have a material adverse effect on our
business. We employ all of our executive officers and key employees on an at-will basis, and their employment can be terminated by us or them at any time, for
any reason and without notice, subject, in certain cases, to severance payment rights. In order to retain valuable employees, in addition to salary and cash
incentives, we have provided stock options and restricted stock that vest over time and may in the future grant equity awards tied to company performance. The
value to employees of stock options and restricted stock that vest over time will be significantly affected by movements in our stock price that are beyond our
control and may at any time be insufficient to maintain their retention benefit or counteract offers from other companies. We would be adversely affected if we fail
to adequately plan for the succession of our senior management and other key employees. Additionally, if we were to lose a large percentage of our current
employees in a relatively short time period, or our employees were to engage in a work stoppage or unionize, we may be unable to hire and train new employees
quickly enough to prevent disruptions in our operations, which may result in the loss of members, Territory Partners or referral sources.

Our success also depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate additional skilled management personnel. We plan to continue to expand our work force,
which we believe will enhance our business and operating results. We believe that there is significant competition for qualified personnel with the skills and
knowledge that we require. Many of the other companies with which we compete for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources than we do.
New hires require significant training and, in most cases, take significant time before they achieve full productivity. New employees may not become as productive
as we expect, and we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals.

We may continue to create, invest in or acquire businesses, products and technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result in additional
dilution to our stockholders, otherwise disrupt our operations or harm our operating results.

We have in the past created, invested in or acquired complementary businesses, products, technologies and new lines of business, and we may continue to do so in
the future. Our ability to successfully evaluate and manage investment opportunities, or make and integrate acquisitions or products, is unproven. For example, we
have invested in a pet food initiative, and we believe that pet food may be an important part of our offerings over the long term. We do not have experience
manufacturing, selling, or distributing food products and pet food manufacturing facilities, and pet food products are subject to many laws and regulations
administered by the United States Department of Agriculture, the Federal Food and Drug Administration, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and
other federal, state, local, and foreign governmental agencies relating to the production, packaging, labelling, storage, distribution, quality, and safety of food
products and the health and safety of employees.

The pursuit of potential new products, investments or acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying,
investigating and pursuing suitable opportunities, whether or not they are consummated. Further, even if we successfully invest in or acquire additional businesses
or technologies, we may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the transaction. The investment or acquisition may also expose us to additional risks, including
from unknowingly inheriting liabilities that are not adequately covered by indemnities. Acquisitions or investments could also result in dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect our operating results.

If we do not spend our development budget efficiently or effectively on commercially successful and innovative offerings and products, we may not realize the
expected benefits of our strategy. Further, our development efforts with respect to new products and offerings could distract management from current operations,
and will divert capital and other resources from our more established products and offerings. If an investment or acquisition fails to meet our expectations, our
business, operating results and financial condition may suffer.
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We depend on relationships with strategic partners, and our inability to maintain our existing and secure new relationships with strategic partners could harm
our revenue and operating results.

A portion of our revenue is attributable to a variety of different types of strategic partnership arrangements. These partnerships involve various risks, depending on
their structure, including the following:

• we may be unable to maintain or secure favorable relationships with strategic partners;
• our strategic partners may not be successful in creating leads;
• we may be unable to convert leads from our strategic partners into enrolled pets;
• our strategic partners could terminate their relationships with us;
• our strategic partners may acquire or form alliances with our competitors, thereby reducing their business with us;
• we may not experience a consistent correlation between revenues and expenditures related to the partnership; and
• bad publicity and other issues faced by our strategic partners could negatively impact us.

Any inability to secure, maintain or effectively manage these complicated relationships with strategic partners could have a material adverse effect on our revenue
and operating results.

Our business and financial condition is subject to risks related to our writing of policies unaffiliated third parties.

Our other business segment includes revenues and expenses involving contractual relationships with unaffiliated third parties and related marketing to enterprises.
We have relatively limited experience in writing policies for unaffiliated third parties. This business is not expected to grow at the same rate as our core business
and may decline. Changes to this business may be volatile due to the nature of the relationships. Further, this business historically has had, and we expect it to
continue to have, lower margins than our core business. As a result of this line of business, we are subject to additional regulatory requirements and scrutiny, which
increase our costs and risks, and may have an adverse effect on our operations. Further, administration of this business and any similar business in the future may
divert our time and attention away from our core business, which could adversely affect our operating results in the aggregate.

For example, the pet insurance policies we write for general agents are subject to materially different terms and conditions than our subscription. They are typically
annual policies with monthly payment terms, which can result in accounts receivable balances and payment timing patterns we do not experience in our
subscription business. The relationships with these general agents may be terminated by either party and, if terminated, would result in a reduction in our revenue
to the extent we cannot enter other relationships and generate equivalent revenue with different general agents. For the year ended December 31, 2019, premiums
from policies sourced by general agents accounted for 14% of our total revenue, and one general agent sourced members whose premiums accounted for over 10%
of our total revenue. Further, the unaffiliated general agents administer these policies and market them to consumers. If the general agents make operating
decisions that adversely affect its business or brand, our business or brand could also be adversely affected.

In Canada, our medical plan is written by Omega General Insurance Company. If Omega were to terminate its underwriting arrangement with us, our
business could be adversely affected.

In Canada, our pet insurance subscription is written by Omega, and we assume all premiums written by Omega and the related veterinary invoice expense through
an agency agreement and a fronting and administration agreement. If Omega were to terminate our agreement or be unable to write insurance for regulatory or
other reasons, we may have to terminate subscriptions with our existing Canadian members, or suspend member enrollment and renewals in Canada until we enter
into a relationship with another third party to write our subscription or we set up an entity able to perform this service, which may take a significant amount of time
and require significant expense. We may not be able to enter into a new relationship, and any new relationship would likely be on less favorable terms. Any delay
in entry into a new relationship or suspension of member enrollment and renewals could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial
condition.

Changes in the foreign exchange rates may adversely affect our revenue and operating results.

We offer our subscription in Canada and in the future may offer it in other countries, which exposes us to the risk of changes in currency exchange rates. For the
year ended December 31, 2019, approximately 18% of our total revenue was generated in Canada. Fluctuations in the relative strength of the US dollar has in the
past and could in the future adversely affect our revenue and operating results.

We may decide to set up multiple insurance subsidiaries, which may complicate our business and harm our results of operations.
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Currently, APIC, our wholly owned subsidiary, underwrites memberships for our U.S. subscription product, and Omega, a third party, underwrites memberships
for our Canadian subscription product. We are in the process of setting up additional wholly owned insurance companies in the U.S. and Canada to underwrite our
subscription and in the future we may decide to set up and operate additional wholly-owned insurance companies in the U.S., Canada or a different country. The
pursuit of acquiring or forming a new insurance subsidiary may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying,
investigating and pursuing suitable opportunities, whether or not the formation or acquisition is completed. Further, even if we are successful in forming or
acquiring a new insurance subsidiary we may not achieve the anticipated benefits. In addition, we may require additional capital to meet our risk-based capital
requirements for the new insurance subsidiaries and will be subject to additional regulatory scrutiny in the jurisdiction of incorporation and any additional
jurisdictions the insurance subsidiary operates. Failure to comply with laws, regulations and guidelines applicable to a new insurance subsidiary could result in
significant liability, result in the loss of revenue and otherwise harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock may be negatively affected.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting and provide a management report on the internal control over financial reporting, which must be attested to by our independent registered public
accounting firm.

We may not detect errors on a timely basis and our financial statements may be materially misstated. We have had in the past, and may have in the future, material
weaknesses and significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. If we or our independent registered public accounting firm identify future
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner, we are
unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as
to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the
market price of our common stock could be negatively affected. We could also become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are
listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.

If our security measures are breached and unauthorized access is obtained to our data, including our members’ data, we may lose our competitive advantage,
our systems may be perceived as not being secure and we may incur third-party liability.

Our data repository contains proprietary information that we believe gives us a competitive advantage, including data on veterinary invoices received and other
data with respect to members, Territory Partners, veterinarians and other third parties. We also collect and utilize demographic and other information from and
about our members when they visit our website, call our contact center and apply for enrollment. Further, we use tracking technologies, including “cookies,” to
help us manage and track our members’ interactions and deliver relevant advice and advertising. Security breaches could expose us to a risk of loss of our data
and/or disclosure of this data, either publicly or to a third party who could use the information to gain a competitive advantage. Because techniques used to obtain
unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. In the event of a loss of our systems or data, we could experience increased costs, delays, legal liability
and reputational harm, which in turn may harm our financial condition, damage our brand and result in the loss of members. Such a disclosure also could lead to
litigation and possible liability.

In the course of operating our business, we store and/or transmit our members’ confidential information, including credit card and bank account numbers and other
private information. Because the methods used to obtain unauthorized access to private information change frequently and may be difficult to detect for long
periods of time, security breaches would expose us to a risk of loss of this information, litigation and possible liability. Our payment services are similarly
susceptible to credit card and other payment fraud schemes, including unauthorized use of credit cards, debit cards or bank account information, identity theft or
merchant fraud.

If our security measures are breached as a result of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, and, as a result, someone obtains unauthorized
access to our data, including data of our members, our reputation may be damaged, our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability. Because
techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be
unable to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of our security occurs, the public perception of
the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed.
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In addition, cyber-attacks or acts of terrorism could cause disruptions in our business or the economy as a whole. Our servers and systems may also be vulnerable
to computer viruses, break-ins and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems, which could lead to interruptions, delays, loss of
critical data or the unauthorized disclosure of confidential member data. We currently have limited disaster recovery capability, and our business interruption
insurance may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. Such disruptions could negatively impact our ability to run our business, which could
have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

We are subject to a number of risks related to accepting automatic fund transfers and credit card and debit card payments.

We accept payments of subscription fees from our members through automatic fund transfers and credit and debit card transactions. For credit and debit card
payments, we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase over time. An increase in the number of members who utilize credit and debit cards to pay their
subscription fees or related credit and debit card fees would reduce our margins and could require us to increase subscription fees, which could cause us to lose
members and revenue, or suffer an increase in our operating expenses, either of which could adversely affect our operating results.

If we, or any of our processing vendors or banks have problems with our billing software, or if the billing software malfunctions, it could have an adverse effect on
our member satisfaction and could cause one or more of the major credit card companies or banks to disallow our continued use of their payment products. In
addition, if our billing software fails to work properly and, as a result, we do not automatically charge our members’ credit cards on a timely basis or at all, or a
bank withdraws the incorrect amount or fails to timely transfer the correct amount to us, we could lose revenue and harm our member experience, which could
adversely affect our business and operating results. Moreover, a vendor could fail to process payments, or could process payments in the wrong amounts, which
could result in us failing to collect premiums, could result in increased cancellations and could adversely affect our reputation.

We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers, including the Payment
Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS), a security standard applicable to companies that collect, store or transmit certain data regarding credit and debit
cards, holders and transactions. Although we are currently compliant with PCI DSS, in the past we were not, and in the future we may not be, fully or materially
compliant with PCI DSS, or other payment card operating rules. Any failure to comply with the PCI DSS in the future may violate payment card association
operating rules, federal and state laws and regulations, and the terms of our contracts with payment processors and merchant banks. Such failure to comply may
subject us to fines, penalties, damages and civil liability, and may result in the loss of our ability to accept credit and debit card payments. In addition, there is no
guarantee that PCI DSS compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our payment systems or the theft, loss or misuse of data pertaining to credit and debit
cards, credit and debit card holders and credit and debit card transactions.

If we fail to adequately control fraudulent credit card transactions, we may face civil liability, diminished public perception of our security measures and
significantly higher credit card-related costs, each of which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

If we are unable to maintain our chargeback rate at acceptable levels, our credit card fees for chargeback transactions, or our fees for many or all categories of
credit and debit card transactions, credit card companies and debit card issuers may increase our fees or terminate their relationship with us. Any increases in our
credit card and debit card fees could adversely affect our operating results, particularly if we elect not to raise our subscription fees. The termination of our ability
to process payments on any major credit or debit card would significantly impair our ability to operate our business.

We have limited experience owning an office building and may face unexpected costs.

In August 2018, we purchased our home office building. Prior to this purchase, we had no experience owning an office building. It is difficult to predict all costs
associated with maintaining the building and ensuring it is suitable for our use and that of other tenants and maintain compliance with all environmental and other
regulations applicable to ownership of real estate. It is possible that the other current tenants in the building may cease to rent space in the building, which would
decrease rental income we expect to receive from them. We recently learned that one tenant has decided not to continue leasing space in the building and we are
evaluating use of the newly vacant space. Tenants may also negotiate tenant improvements, requiring capital expenditures that may adversely impact our financial
position. In addition, we may identify structural defects or other conditions, or we may determine that remodeling or renovations are necessary given our business
operations and objectives. Managing tenants, maintaining the building, and otherwise facing the costs and responsibilities of being the owner of a building may be
a distraction from our core business and cause our performance to suffer.

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property could substantially harm our business and operating results.

We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, patents, copyrights, trademarks and domain names, as well as contractual
restrictions, to establish and protect our patented proprietary software and our intellectual property. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights,
unauthorized parties may attempt to copy our digital content, pricing analytics, technology, software, branding and functionality, or obtain and use information that
we consider proprietary.
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Moreover, policing our proprietary rights is difficult and may not always be effective. If we continue to expand internationally, we may need to enforce our rights
under the laws of countries that do not protect proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States, which may be expensive and divert
management’s attention away from other operations.

Our proprietary software is protected by patents. These patents may not be sufficient to maintain effective product exclusivity because patent rights are limited in
time and do not always provide effective protection. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce or protect our patent rights may be ineffective, could result in substantial
costs and diversion of resources, could result in the invalidation of our patent rights, and could substantially harm our operating results. Even where our patents
rights are enforced, legal remedies available for harm caused to us by infringing products may be inadequate to make us whole. Further, our successful assertion of
our patent against one competing product is not necessarily predictive of our future success or failure in asserting the same patent against a second competing
product. In addition, patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years after it is filed. Various extensions
may be available. However, the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Once the patent life has expired for our software, our competitors will be
able to use our patented technology.

We seek to control access to our proprietary technology, software and documentation by entering into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with
our employees and partners, confidentiality agreements or license agreements with third parties, such as service providers, vendors, individuals and entities that
may be exploring a business relationship with us, and terms of use with third parties, such as veterinary hospitals desiring to use our technology, software and
documentation. These agreements may not prevent disclosure of intellectual property, trade secrets and/or other confidential information, and may not provide an
adequate remedy in the event of misappropriation of trade secrets or any unauthorized disclosure of trade secrets and other confidential information. In addition,
others may independently discover trade secrets and confidential information and, in such cases, we may not be able to assert any trade secret rights against such
parties. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our intellectual property rights and related confidentiality,
license and nondisclosure provisions, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection, or our competitors being able to obtain our trade secrets or to
independently develop technology similar to ours or competing technologies, could adversely affect our competitive business position.

Litigation or proceedings before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or other governmental authorities and administrative bodies in the United States and abroad
may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our domain names and to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary
rights of others. Our efforts to enforce or protect our proprietary rights may be ineffective, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could
substantially harm our operating results.

Assertions by third parties of infringement or other violation by us of their intellectual property rights could result in significant costs and substantially harm
our business and operating results.

Third parties have in the past and may in the future claim that our services or technologies infringe or otherwise violate their intellectual property rights. We may
be subject to legal proceedings and claims, including claims of alleged infringement by us of the intellectual property rights of third parties. Any dispute or
litigation regarding intellectual property could be expensive and time consuming, regardless of the merits of any claim, and could divert our management and key
personnel from our operations.

If we were to discover or be notified that our services potentially infringe or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of others, we may need to obtain
licenses from these parties in order to avoid infringement. We may not be able to obtain the necessary licenses on acceptable terms, or at all, and any such license
may substantially restrict our use of the intellectual property. Moreover, if we are sued for infringement and lose the lawsuit, we could be required to pay
substantial damages or be enjoined from offering the infringing services. Any of the foregoing could cause us to incur significant costs and prevent us from selling
or properly administering subscriptions or performing under our other contractual relationships.

We rely on third parties to provide intellectual property and technology necessary for the operation of our business.

We utilize intellectual property and technology owned and/or hosted by third parties in developing and operating our technology platform and operating our
business. From time to time, we may be required to renegotiate with these third parties or negotiate with other third parties to include or continue using their
intellectual property or technology in our existing technology platform or business operations or in modifications or enhancements to our technology platform or
business operations. We may not be able to obtain the necessary rights from these third parties on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and the third-party
intellectual property and technology we use or desire to use may not be appropriately supported, maintained or enhanced by the third parties. If we are unable to
obtain the rights necessary to use or continue to use third-party intellectual property and technology in our operations, or if those third parties are unable to support,
maintain and enhance their intellectual property and technology, we could experience increased costs or delays, which in turn may harm our financial condition,
damage our brand and result in the loss of members.
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Our technology platform and our data are also hosted by a third-party service provider. The terms under which such third-party service provider provides us
services may change and we may be required to renegotiate with that third party. If we are unable to renegotiate satisfactory terms, we may not be able to transition
to an alternative service provider without interrupting the availability of our technology platform and any interruption could materially and adversely affect our
business. Additionally, if our third-party service provider experiences any disruptions, outages or catastrophes, or if it ceases to conduct business for any reason,
we could experience an interruption in our business, which in turn may damage our brand, result in a loss of members and harm our financial condition.

The outcome of litigation or regulatory proceedings could subject us to significant monetary damages, restrict our ability to conduct our business, harm our
reputation and otherwise negatively impact our business.

From time to time, we have been, and in the future may become, subject to litigation, claims and regulatory proceedings and inquiries, including market conduct
examinations and investigations by state insurance regulatory agencies and threatened or filed lawsuits by, among others, government agencies, employees,
competitors, current or former members, or business partners.

We cannot predict the outcome of these actions or proceedings, and the cost of defending such actions or proceedings could be material. Further, defending such
actions or proceedings could divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. If we are found liable in any action or proceeding, we may
have to pay substantial damages or fines, which may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects. More
critically, an adverse result from a proceeding could require us to change the way we conduct our business, including our marketing and promotional practices, and
such a result may have a greater adverse effect on our business than monetary damages or fines. There may also be negative publicity associated with litigation or
regulatory proceedings that could harm our reputation or decrease acceptance of our services. These claims may be costly to defend and may result in assessment
of damages, adverse tax consequences and harm to our reputation.

Covenants in the credit agreement governing our revolving line of credit may restrict our operations, and if we do not effectively manage our business to
comply with these covenants, our financial condition could be adversely affected.

The credit agreement governing our revolving line of credit contains various restrictive covenants, including restrictions on our ability to dispose of our assets,
merge with or acquire other entities, incur other indebtedness, make investments, and engage in transactions with our affiliates. Our credit agreement also contains
certain financial covenants. Our ability to meet these restrictive covenants can be affected by events beyond our control. Our credit agreement provides that our
breach or failure to satisfy certain covenants constitutes an event of default. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, our lenders could elect to declare any
future amounts outstanding under our credit agreement to be immediately due and payable. If we are unable to repay those amounts, our financial condition could
be adversely affected.

Any indebtedness we incur could adversely affect our business and limit our ability to expand our business or respond to changes, and we may be unable to
generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy any of our debt service obligations.

As of December 31, 2019, we had $26.2 million outstanding indebtedness under our revolving line of credit and may incur indebtedness in the future, including
any additional borrowings available under our revolving line of credit. Any substantial indebtedness, and the fact that a substantial portion of our cash flow from
operating activities could be needed to make payments on this indebtedness, could have adverse consequences, including the following:

• reducing the availability of our cash flow for our operations, capital expenditures, future business opportunities and other purposes;
• limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate, which could place us at a

competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that may have less debt;
• limiting our ability to borrow additional funds; and
• increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions.

Our ability to borrow any funds needed to operate and expand our business will depend in part on our ability to generate cash. If our business does not generate
sufficient cash flow from operating activities or if future borrowings, under our revolving credit facility or otherwise, are not available to us in amounts sufficient
to enable us to fund our liquidity needs, our operating results, financial condition and ability to expand our business and meet our risk-based capital requirements
may be adversely affected.
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We may have additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to income tax, premium tax, transaction tax and other taxes in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. Judgment is required in determining our provision
for income taxes, premium tax, transaction tax and other taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Further, we often make elections for tax purposes which may ultimately not be upheld. Although we believe our tax
estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation in the jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation could be materially
different from our historical income tax provisions and accruals. The results of an audit or litigation could have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements in the period or periods in which that determination is made.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

As of December 31, 2019, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $130.3 million that will begin to expire in 2027. Under Sections
382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” the corporation’s ability to use its
pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset its post-change income taxes may be limited.
In general, an “ownership change” occurs if there is a cumulative change in our ownership by “5-percent stockholders” that exceeds 50 percentage points over a
rolling three-year period. Similar rules may apply under state tax laws. Pursuant to Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, annual use of our net operating loss
carryforwards and credit carryforwards may be limited by previous and future ownership changes.

Changes in the economy may negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business may be affected by changes in the economic environment. Medical insurance for cats and dogs is a discretionary purchase, and members may reduce
or eliminate their discretionary spending during an economic downturn, resulting in an increase in terminations and a reduction in the number of new member
enrollments. We may experience a material increase in terminations or a material reduction in our member retention rate in the future, especially in the event of a
prolonged recessionary period or a downturn in economic conditions. Conversely, consumers may have more income to pay veterinary costs out-of-pocket and less
desire to purchase our subscription during a period of economic growth. In addition, media prices may increase during a period of economic growth, which could
increase our sales and marketing expenses. As a result, our business, operating results and financial condition may be significantly affected by changes in the
economic environment.

We are expanding our operations internationally, and we may therefore become subject to a number of risks associated with international expansion and
operations.

As part of our growth plan, we have explored, and expect to continue to explore, opportunities to expand our operations internationally. For instance, we recently
entered the Australian market through a joint venture and we may enter other countries. We have no history of marketing, selling, administrating and supporting
our subscription for consumers outside of the United States, Canada, and Puerto Rico. In general, international sales and operations may be subject to a number of
risks, including the following:

• regulatory rules and practices, foreign exchange controls, tariffs, tax laws and treaties that are different than those we operate under currently;
• the costs and resources required to modify our subscription appropriately to suit the needs and expectations of residents and veterinarians in such foreign

countries;
• our data analytics platform may have limited applicability in foreign countries, which may impact our ability to develop adequate underwriting criteria

and accurately price subscriptions in such countries;
• increased expenses incurred in establishing and maintaining office space and equipment for our international operations;
• technological incompatibility between our patented proprietary software and software used by veterinarians;
• difficulties in modifying our business model or subscription in a manner suitable for any particular foreign country, including any modifications to our

Territory Partner model to the extent we determine that our existing model is not suitable for use in foreign countries;
• our lack of experience in marketing to consumers and veterinarians and online marketing in foreign countries;
• our relative lack of industry connections in many foreign countries;
• difficulties in managing operations due to language barriers, distance and time zone differences, staffing, cultural differences and business infrastructure

constraints, including difficulty in obtaining foreign and domestic visas;
• the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; and
• general economic and political conditions in these foreign markets.
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These and other factors could harm our ability to gain future international revenue and, consequently, materially impact our business and operating results. The
expansion of our existing international operations and entry into additional international markets will require significant management attention and financial
resources, detracting from management attention and financial resources otherwise available to our existing business. Our failure to successfully manage our
international operations and the associated risks effectively could limit the future growth of our business and could have an adverse effect on our operating results
and financial condition.

Risks Related to Compliance with Laws and Regulations

We may not maintain the amount of risk-based capital required to avoid additional regulatory oversight, which may adversely affect our ability to operate our
business.

Memberships in our U.S. subscription product are underwritten by APIC. APIC is an insurance company domiciled in the state of New York and licensed by the
New York Department of Financial Services (NY DFS). Regulators in the states in which we do business impose risk-based capital requirements on APIC that
generally are approved by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners (NAIC) to ensure APIC maintains reasonably appropriate levels of surplus to
protect our members against adverse developments in APIC’s financial circumstances, taking into account the risk characteristics of our assets, liabilities and
certain other items. Generally, state insurance regulators will compare, on an annual basis as of December 31 or more often as deemed necessary, an insurer’s total
adjusted capital and surplus to assess an insurer’s capital adequacy. If an insurer’s risk-based capital falls below a specific threshold, the regulator may take action,
which can range from directing an insurer to propose a plan to increase its capital to an acceptable level to placing the insurer under regulatory control.

Applicable regulations regarding risk-based capital may change, and/or the NY DFS may increase APIC’s required levels of risk-based capital in the future.
Regardless, we anticipate that we will need to maintain greater amounts of risk-based capital if our pet enrollment continues to grow. Additionally, a reduction in
our risk-based capital may result in a breach of various contractual relationships, including, for example, with the unaffiliated general agents for which we write pet
insurance policies, which may give such parties the ability to cancel their contracts with us and/or sue us for damages related to our risk-based capital levels, which
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

We may require additional capital to meet our risk-based capital requirements, pursue our business objectives and respond to business opportunities,
challenges or unforeseen circumstances. If capital is not available to us at any time, our business, operating results and financial condition may be harmed.

We may require additional capital to meet our risk-based capital requirements, operate or expand our business or respond to unforeseen circumstances. Additional
funds may not be available when we need them, on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or
convertible securities, the percentage ownership of holders of our common stock could be significantly diluted and these newly issued securities may have rights,
preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common stock. Further, volatility in the credit or equity markets may have an adverse effect on our
ability to obtain debt or equity financing or the cost of such financing. Similarly, our access to funds may be impaired if regulatory authorities or rating agencies
take negative actions against us. If a combination of these factors were to occur, our internal sources of liquidity may prove to be insufficient and, in such case, we
may not be able to successfully obtain additional financing on favorable terms. If funds are unavailable to us on reasonable terms when we need them, we may be
unable to meet our risk-based capital requirements, train and support our employees, support Territory Partners, maintain the competitiveness of our technology,
pursue business opportunities, service our existing debt, pay veterinary invoices or acquire new members, any of which could have an adverse effect on our
business, operating results and financial condition.

Our business is heavily regulated, and if we fail to comply with the numerous applicable laws and regulations our business and operating results could be
harmed.

The sale of medical insurance for cats and dogs, which is considered a type of property and casualty insurance in most jurisdictions, is heavily regulated by federal,
state, provincial and territorial governments in each jurisdiction in which we operate. In the United States, state insurance regulators are charged with protecting
policyholders and have broad regulatory, supervisory and administrative powers over our business practices. Because we do business in all 50 states, the District of
Columbia, all Canadian provinces and territories, and Puerto Rico, compliance with insurance-related laws, rules and regulations is difficult and imposes
significant costs on our business. Each jurisdiction’s insurance department typically has the power, among other things, to:

• grant and revoke licenses to transact insurance business;
• conduct inquiries into the insurance-related activities and conduct of agents and agencies and others in the sales, marketing and promotional channels;
• require and regulate disclosure in connection with the sale and solicitation of insurance policies;
• authorize how, by which personnel and under what circumstances insurance premiums can be quoted and published and an insurance policy sold;
• regulate how sales incentives may be structured;
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• regulate the content of insurance-related advertisements, including web pages, and other marketing practices;
• approve policy forms, require specific benefits and benefit levels;
• regulate premium rates;
• impose fines and other penalties; and
• impose continuing education requirements.

While the U.S. federal government does not directly regulate the insurance industry, federal legislation and administrative policies can also affect us. Congress and
various federal agencies periodically discuss proposals that would provide for federal oversight of insurance companies. We cannot predict whether any such laws
will be enacted or the effect that such laws would have on our business. We also do business in all ten provinces and three territories of Canada. The provincial and
territorial insurance regulators have the power to regulate the market conduct of insurers and insurance intermediaries, and the licensing and supervision of
insurance agents, and brokers, along with enforcement rights, including the right to assess administrative monetary penalties in certain provinces.

Insurance companies are also regulated at the federal level in Canada, and the Insurance Companies Act prohibits a foreign entity from insuring risks in Canada
unless it is authorized by an Order made by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (Canada) permitting it to do so.

Due to the complexity, periodic modification and differing interpretations of insurance laws and regulations, we have not always been, and we may not always be,
in compliance with them. A regulator’s interpretation of existing laws or regulations may change without notice. Failure to comply with insurance laws, regulations
and guidelines or other laws and regulations applicable to our business could result in significant liability, additional department of insurance licensing
requirements, the revocation of licenses in a particular jurisdiction or our inability to sell subscriptions, which could significantly increase our operating expenses,
result in the loss of our revenue and otherwise harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Moreover, because adverse regulatory actions in one jurisdiction must be reported to other jurisdictions, an adverse regulatory action in one jurisdiction could
result in penalties and adversely affect our license status or reputation in other jurisdictions. Even if the allegations in any regulatory or other action against us
ultimately are determined to be unfounded, we could incur significant time and expense defending against the allegations, and any related negative publicity could
harm consumer and third-party confidence in us, which could significantly damage our brand.

In addition, we have received, and may in the future receive, inquiries from regulators regarding our marketing and business practices. These inquires may include
investigations regarding a number of our business practices, including the manner in which we market and sell subscriptions, the manner in which we write policies
for any unaffiliated general agent, and whether any amounts we pay to hospitals or hospital groups is appropriate. Any modification of our marketing or business
practices in response to regulatory inquiries could harm our business, operating results or financial condition and lead to reputational harm.

States may adopt new laws that may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

The NAIC may draft model laws that focus on medical insurance for pets. States may enact new laws to adopt what the NAIC drafts, or a state may enact its own
new laws or regulations that could affect our industry. Many states have considered and may continue to consider proposed legislation that could significantly
affect our operations, including, for example, our ability to effect rate increases, to cancel or not issue existing policies, or how to market our product.
Implementing changes in order to comply with new laws or regulations could also be time-consuming and costly.

We may not receive approval for changes to an existing product, for a proposed new product or for pricing changes, or we may not receive such approvals in a
timely manner.

Most states require licensure and regulatory approval prior to marketing new insurance products or changing premiums for existing products. From time to time,
we seek to make updates to our existing subscription product. We may also introduce new products that make changes that are more extensive to the product
approved in a state. With respect to pricing, our practice has been to regularly reevaluate the price of our subscriptions, with any pricing changes implemented at
least annually, subject to the review and approval of the state regulators, who may reduce or disallow our pricing changes. Such review has often in the past
resulted, and may in the future result, in delayed implementation of pricing changes and prevent us from making changes we believe are necessary to achieve our
targeted payout ratio, which could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. A delayed approval may require us to raise rates more quickly
than we otherwise may desire. This could damage our reputation with our members and reduce our retention rates, which could significantly damage our brand,
result in the loss of expected revenue and otherwise harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
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We may be affected by mandatory participation in plans that could result in contributions from insurance subsidiaries we own.

Certain states have enacted laws that require a property-casualty insurer, which includes a pet insurance company, conducting business in that state to participate in
assigned risk plans, reinsurance facilities, joint underwriting associations (JUAs), Fair Access to Insurance Requirements (FAIR) plans and wind pools. In these
markets, if the state reinsurance facilities, wind pools, FAIR plans or JUAs recognize a financial deficit, they may in turn have the ability to assess participating
insurers, adversely affecting our operating results and financial condition if we are a part of such state reinsurance facilities, wind pools, FAIR plans or JUAs.
Additionally, certain states require insurers to participate in guaranty funds for impaired or insolvent insurance companies. These funds periodically assess losses
against all insurance companies doing business in the state. Our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected by any of these factors.

Regulations that require individuals or entities that sell medical insurance for cats and dogs or process claims to be licensed may be interpreted to apply to our
business more broadly than we expect them to, which could require us to modify our business practices, create liabilities, damage our reputation, and harm our
business.

Insurance regulations generally require that each individual who sells, solicits or negotiates insurance on our behalf must maintain a valid license in the jurisdiction
in which the activity occurs. Regulations also generally prohibit paying an insurance commission to an unlicensed person or entity. Regulations may also require
certain individuals who process claims to be licensed. These requirements are subject to a variety of interpretations between jurisdictions. We may not interpret and
apply the requirements in the same manner as all applicable regulators, and, even if we have, the requirements or regulatory interpretations of those requirements
may change. Regulators have in the past and/or may in the future determine that certain of our personnel or third parties were performing licensable activities
without the required license, including for example a veterinary hospital employee. If such persons were not in fact licensed in any such jurisdiction, we could
become subject to conviction for an offense or the imposition of an administrative penalty, and liable for significant penalties. Regulators may also deem payments
we make to an unlicensed entity or person to be improper. We would also likely be required to modify our business practices and/or sales and marketing programs,
or license the affected individuals, which may be impractical or costly and time-consuming to implement. Any modification of our business or marketing practices
in response to regulatory licensing requirements could harm our business, operating results or financial condition.

We are subject to numerous laws and regulations, and compliance with one law or regulation may result in non-compliance with another.

We are subject to numerous laws and regulations that are administered and enforced by a number of different governmental authorities, each of which exercises a
degree of interpretive latitude, including, in the United States, state insurance regulators, state securities administrators, state attorneys general and federal agencies
including the SEC, Internal Revenue Service and the U.S. Department of Justice. Consequently, we are subject to the risk that compliance with any particular
regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation of a legal issue may not result in compliance with another’s interpretation of the same issue, particularly when
compliance is judged in hindsight. In addition, there is risk that laws and regulations or any particular regulator’s or enforcement authority’s interpretation of a
legal issue may change over time to our detriment, or that changes in the overall legal environment may, even absent any particular regulator’s or enforcement
authority’s interpretation of a legal issue changing, cause us to change our views regarding the actions we need to take from a legal risk management perspective,
thus necessitating changes to our practices that may, in some cases, increase our costs and limit our ability to grow or to improve the profitability of our business.
Further, in some cases, these laws and regulations are designed to protect or benefit the interests of a specific constituency rather than a range of constituencies. For
example, state insurance laws and regulations generally are intended to protect or benefit purchasers or users of insurance products, not holders of securities, which
generally is the jurisdiction of the SEC. In many respects, these laws and regulations limit our ability to grow or to improve the profitability of our business.

Failure to comply with federal, state and provincial laws and regulations relating to privacy and security of personal information, and civil liabilities relating
to breaches of privacy and security of personal information, could create liabilities for us, damage our reputation and harm our business.

A variety of U.S. and Canadian federal, state and provincial laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of personal information.
Claims or allegations that we have violated applicable laws or regulations related to privacy and data security could in the future result in negative publicity and a
loss of confidence in us by our members and our participating service providers, and may subject us to fines by credit card companies and the loss of our ability to
accept credit and debit card payments. In addition, we have posted privacy policies and practices concerning the collection, use and disclosure of member data on
our website. Several Internet companies have incurred penalties for failing to abide by the representations made in their privacy policies and practices. In addition,
our use and retention of personal information could lead to civil liability exposure in the event of any disclosure of such information due to hacking, viruses,
inadvertent action or other use or disclosure. Several companies have been subject to civil actions, including class actions, relating to this exposure.
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We have incurred, and will continue to incur, expenses to comply with privacy and security standards and protocols for personal information imposed by law,
regulation, self-regulatory bodies, industry standards and contractual obligations. Such laws, standards and regulations, however, are evolving and subject to
potentially differing interpretations, and federal, state and provincial legislative and regulatory bodies may expand current or enact new laws or regulations
regarding privacy matters. We are unable to predict what additional legislation, standards or regulation in the area of privacy and security of personal information
could be enacted or its effect on our operations and business.

Law and regulations of the Internet, email and texting could adversely affect our business.

Many laws governing general commerce on the Internet remain unsettled and it may take years to fully determine whether and how existing laws such as those
governing insurance, intellectual property, privacy and taxation apply to the Internet. In addition, the growth and development of the market for electronic
commerce and Internet-related pet insurance advertisements and transactions may prompt calls for more stringent consumer protection laws that may impose
additional burdens on companies conducting business and selling subscriptions over the Internet. Any new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing
laws or regulations relating to the Internet could harm our business and we could be forced to incur substantial costs in order to comply with them, which would
harm our business, operating results and financial condition.

Additionally, we use phone solicitation, email and texting to market our services to potential members and/or as a means of communicating with our existing
members. The laws and regulations governing the use of phone solicitation, email and texting continue to evolve, and the growth and development of the market
for commerce over the Internet may lead to the adoption of additional legislation. Failure to comply with existing or new laws regarding phone solicitation, text or
electronic communications with members could lead to significant damages. We have incurred, and will continue to incur, expenses in our efforts to comply with
electronic messaging laws. If new laws or regulations are adopted, or existing laws and regulations are interpreted, to impose additional restrictions on our ability
to send email to our members or potential members, we may not be able to communicate with them in a cost-effective manner. In addition to legal restrictions on
the use of email for commercial purposes, Internet and email service providers and others attempt to block the transmission of unsolicited email, commonly known
as “spam.” Many service providers have relationships with organizations whose purpose it is to detect and notify the Internet and email service providers of entities
that the organization believes are sending unsolicited email. If an Internet or email service provider identifies messaging and email from us as “spam” as a result of
reports from these organizations or otherwise, we could be placed on a restricted list that will block our emails to members or potential members. If we are
restricted or unable to communicate by phone, text or email with our members and potential members as a result of legislation, blockage or otherwise, our
business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.

Applicable insurance laws regarding the change in control of our company may impede potential acquisitions that our stockholders might consider to be
desirable.

We are subject to statutes and regulations of the state of New York that generally require that any person or entity desiring to acquire direct or indirect control of
APIC obtain prior regulatory approval. These laws may discourage potential acquisition proposals and may delay, deter or prevent a change in control of our
company, including through transactions, and in particular unsolicited transactions, that some of our stockholders might consider to be desirable. Similar laws or
regulations may also apply in other states in which we may operate.

Our segregated account in Bermuda, WICL segregated account AX, could be adversely impacted by regulatory compliance of an unaffiliated third party.

Wyndham Insurance Company (SAC) Limited (WICL) is a class 3 insurer regulated by the Bermuda Monetary Authority (BMA). WICL’s ability to continue
operations and pay dividends could impact the ability of our segregated account to do the same. WICL’s failure to meet regulatory requirements set forth by the
BMA could result in our inability to transact business with WICL segregated account AX. Further, WICL could be limited from allowing dividends to be paid out
of segregated account AX in the event of adverse regulatory actions.
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Our accounting is becoming more complex, and relies upon estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies. If our accounting is erroneous
or based on assumptions that change or prove to be incorrect, our operating results could fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors,
resulting in a decline in our stock price.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, and also to comply with many complex requirements and standards. We devote substantial resources to
compliance with accounting requirements and we base our estimates on our best judgment, historical experience, information derived from third parties, and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. However, various factors are causing our accounting to
become complex, such as our recent building acquisition, our investments in strategic opportunities and our test expansion into foreign markets. Ongoing evolution
of our business may compound these complexities. Our operating results may be adversely affected if we make accounting errors or our judgments prove to be
wrong, assumptions change or actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our operating results to fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors or guidance we may have provided, resulting in a decline in our stock price and potential legal claims. Significant judgments,
assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation,
business combinations, and income taxes.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC and various
bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our
reported financial results, could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change and could affect our compliance with financial
debt covenants.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our actual operating results may differ significantly from our guidance.

From time to time we have released, and may continue to release, guidance in our quarterly earnings conference call, quarterly earnings releases, or otherwise,
regarding our future performance that represents our management’s estimates as of the date of release. This guidance, which includes forward-looking statements,
has been and will be based on projections prepared by our management. These projections are not prepared with a view toward compliance with published
guidelines of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and neither our independent registered public accounting firm nor any other independent
expert or outside party compiles or examines the projections. Accordingly, no such person expresses any opinion or any other form of assurance with respect to the
projections. In addition, we have recently provided information regarding how we think about the drivers of and our method of calculating our intrinsic value,
including related statements regarding discounted cash flows and underlying assumptions (such as pet enrollment, revenue per pet, lifetime values of a pet, pet
acquisition costs, and other costs and expenses).

These statements are based upon a number of assumptions and estimates that, while presented with numerical specificity, are inherently subject to significant
business, economic and competitive risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, including those described in these “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this report. We intend to state possible outcomes as high and low ranges which are intended to provide a sensitivity analysis as variables are changed
but are not intended to imply that actual results could not fall outside of the suggested ranges.

The principal reason that we release guidance and other information regarding our view of the drivers and calculation method of our intrinsic value is to provide a
basis for our management to discuss our business and outlook with analysts and investors.
Guidance is necessarily speculative in nature, and it can be expected that some or all of the assumptions underlying these statements will not materialize or will
vary significantly from actual results. Accordingly, these statements are only estimates of what management believes is reasonable as of the date of release. Actual
results may vary and the variations may be material. In light of the foregoing, investors are urged not to rely upon our guidance or other information regarding our
view of the drivers and calculation method of our intrinsic value in making an investment decision regarding our common stock. In addition, we do not accept any
responsibility for any projections or reports published by any such third parties, and we urge you not to place undue reliance on those statements.
Any failure to successfully implement our operating strategy or the occurrence of any of the events or circumstances set forth in this report could result in the
actual operating results being different from our guidance, and the differences may be adverse and material.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.
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The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. If one or
more of the securities or industry analysts who publish research about us or our business downgrade our stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable evaluations of
our company or our stock, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company, our stock may lose visibility in the
market, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

The market price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile, and you may be unable to sell your shares at or above the price at
which you purchased them.

The market price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to fluctuate widely. Factors affecting the market price of our common stock include:
• variations in our operating results, earnings per share, cash flows from operating activities, and key operating metrics, and how those results compare to

analyst expectations;
• forward-looking guidance that we provide to the public and industry and financial analysts related to future revenue and profitability, and any change in

that guidance or our failure to achieve the results reflected in that guidance;
• the net increases in the number of members, either independently or as compared with published expectations of industry, financial or other analysts that

cover our company;
• announcements of changes to our subscription, strategic alliances, acquisitions or significant agreements by us or by our competitors;
• recruitment or departure of key personnel;
• the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;
• trading activity by a limited number of stockholders who together beneficially own a majority of our outstanding common stock;
• the number of shares of our stock trading on a regular basis; and
• any other factors discussed in these risk factors.

In addition, if the market for stock in our industry or the stock market in general experiences uneven investor confidence, the market price of our common stock
could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. Some companies that have experienced volatility in the trading price of
their stock have been the subject of securities class action litigation. If we are the subject of such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our
management’s attention and resources.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, therefore, any returns will be limited to the value of our stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. Other than potential repurchases of our common stock, we currently intend to retain all
available funds and any future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends
for the foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock is limited by the terms of our credit agreement, APIC’s ability to pay
dividends is limited by New York state insurance laws, and WICL Segregated Account AX’s ability to pay dividends is limited by our agreements with WICL as
well as WICL’s regulatory requirements. Any return to stockholders will therefore be limited to the increase, if any, of our stock price.

Our directors and principal stockholders own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject to
stockholder approval.

Our directors, five percent or greater stockholders and their respective affiliates beneficially hold a significant amount of our outstanding voting stock. Therefore,
these stockholders have the ability to influence us through this ownership position. These stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder
approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger,
sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you or
other stockholders may feel are in your or their best interest as one of our stockholders.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation, restated bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our
company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the market price of our common stock.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws contain provisions that could depress the market price of our common stock by acting to discourage,
delay or prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These
provisions, among other things:

• establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board are elected at one time;
• permit only the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill vacancies on the board;
• provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of two-thirds of our stockholders;
• require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated
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bylaws;
• authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board could use to implement a stockholder rights plan (also known as a “poison pill”);
• eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;
• prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
• prohibit cumulative voting; and
• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at annual

stockholder meetings.
In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company. Section 203 imposes
certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds    

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In November 2019, we announced a share repurchase program, pursuant to which we may repurchase up to $15.0 million in outstanding shares over the 12 months
following the approval. Under the program, we may repurchase shares through open market purchases, privately-negotiated transactions, block purchases or
otherwise in accordance with applicable federal securities laws, including Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act. While our board of directors has approved the
program, any repurchase will be subject to quarterly assessments based on parameters we set. These include uses of capital in a given quarter, the stock price
relative to our estimated intrinsic value, and general market conditions.

The following table provides information about purchases we made during the three months ended March 31, 2020 of equity securities that are registered by us
pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act:

Period
Total number of
shares purchased

Average price
paid per share

Total number of shares purchased as
part of publicly announced plans or

programs

Approximate dollar value of shares that
may yet be purchased under the plans or

programs

    (in thousands)

January 1, 2020—January 31, 2020 — $ — — $ 15,000
February 1, 2020—February 29, 2020 — — — 15,000
March 1, 2020—March 31, 2020 3,300 23.63 3,300 $ 14,922
Total 3,300 $ 23.63 3,300  

All share repurchases were made using cash resources, and through open market purchases.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits

             
Exhibit    Incorporated by Reference  Filed/Furnished

Number  Exhibit Description  Form  File No.  Exhibit  Exhibit Filing Date  Herewith

             
3.1  Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.  10-Q  001-36537  3.1  8/28/2014   

             
3.2

 
Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Registrant.  

8-K
 

001-36537
 

3.1
 

6/3/2016
  

             
3.3  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.  10-Q  001-36537  3.2  8/28/2014   

             
10.1

 

Fifth Amendment to Senior Credit Facility Loan and Security
Agreement, dated February 27, 2020 between Pacific Western Bank,
Western Alliance Bank and the Registrant.          

X

             
31.1

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-
14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.          

X

             
31.2

 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-
14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.          

X

             
32.1*

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.          

X

             
32.2*

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.          

X

             
101.INS

 

XBRL Instance Document - the instance does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the
Inline XBRL document          

X

             
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.          X
             
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.          X
             
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.          X
             
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.          X
             
101.PRE

 
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.          

X

             
104

 
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in Inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)          

X

* This certification is deemed not filed for purpose of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

   

  TRUPANION, INC.
  
Date: April 30, 2020  /s/ Darryl Rawlings

  

Darryl Rawlings
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)

  
Date: April 30, 2020  /s/ Tricia Plouf

  

Tricia Plouf
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

This FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of February
27, 2020, by and among TRUPANION, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Trupanion”), TRUPANION MANAGERS USA, INC., an
Arizona  corporation  (“Trupanion  Managers”),  and  6100  BUILDING,  LLC  (formerly  known  as  Trupanion-APIC,  LLC),  a
Washington  limited  liability  company  (“6100  Building”);  together  with  Trupanion  and  Trupanion  Managers,  individually  and
collectively, “Borrower”), the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party to the Agreement (as
hereinafter  defined)  (each  a  “Lender”  and,  collectively,  the  “Lenders”),  and  PACIFIC  WESTERN  BANK,  a  California  state
chartered  bank  (“PWB”),  as  a  Lender  and  as  administrative  agent  and  collateral  agent  for  the  Lenders  (in  such  capacities,  the
“Administrative Agent”).

RECITALS

A. Trupanion,  Trupanion  Managers,  the  Administrative  Agent,  and  the  Lenders  are  parties  to  that  certain  Loan  and  Security
Agreement dated as of December 16, 2016 (as amended from time to time, the “Agreement”).

B. 6100 Building was added as a co-borrower to the Loan Documents, on a joint and several basis, pursuant to that certain Joinder
to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of August 6, 2018.

C. Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders amend the Agreement in accordance with the terms of
this Amendment.

D. Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and the Lenders have agreed to make certain revisions to the Agreement as more fully set
forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

1) The following term is hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Agreement in alphabetical order as follows:
“Trupanion Administration Canada” is Trupanion Administration Canada, Inc., a Subsidiary.

2) Section  6.6  of  the  Agreement  is  hereby amended  by deleting  the  last  sentence  thereof  in  its  entirety  and replacing  it  with  the
following:

Notwithstanding the  above,  Borrower  may maintain  cash  and  investments  in  one  or  more  accounts  not  maintained
with  Administrative  Agent,  any  of  the  Lenders,  or  each  of  such  Affiliates,  as  applicable,  if  (i)  required  due  to  regulatory
Laws  or  requested  by  an  applicable  regulator,  (ii)  such  Cash  is  held  in  the  Trust  Accounts  for  payment  of  policyholder
claims, and (iii) to the extent such Cash and investments are not otherwise already included in the foregoing clauses (i) and
(ii), so long as (x) the aggregate amount of such cash and investments does not exceed Eight Million Dollars ($8,000,000) at
any time and (y) such cash and investments are maintained at all times in accounts owned by APIC, Wyndham, Trupanion
Brokers, or Trupanion Administration Canada.

3) Administrative Agent  and Lenders  hereby reserve the right  to  require  that  (a)  Trupanion Administration Canada,  Inc.  grant  to
Administrative Agent and Lenders a Lien on its assets and (b) Borrower grant to Administrative Agent and Lenders a Lien on the
share capital of the Trupanion Administration Canada, Inc.



4) Unless otherwise defined, all initially capitalized terms in this Amendment shall be as defined in the Agreement. The Agreement,
as amended hereby, shall be and remain in full force and effect in accordance with its respective terms and hereby is ratified and
confirmed in all respects. Except as expressly set forth herein, the execution, delivery, and performance of this Amendment shall
not operate as a waiver of, or as an amendment of, any right, power, or remedy of Administrative Agent under the Agreement, as
in effect prior to the date hereof. Borrower ratifies and reaffirms the continuing effectiveness of all  agreements entered into in
connection with the Agreement.

5) Borrower represents and warrants that the representations and warranties contained in the Agreement are true and correct as of
the date of this Amendment.

6) Borrower (a) acknowledges and consents to all of the terms and conditions of this Amendment; (b) affirms all of its obligations
under  the  Loan  Documents;  and  (c)  agrees  that  this  Amendment  and  all  documents  executed  in  connection  herewith  do  not
operate to reduce or discharge such Borrower’s obligations under the Loan Documents.

7) Each Borrower (a) affirms that each of the Liens granted in or pursuant to the Loan Documents are valid and subsisting; and (b)
agrees that this Amendment and all documents executed in connection herewith shall in no manner impair or otherwise adversely
affect any of the Liens granted in, or pursuant to, the Loan Documents.

8) This  Amendment  may be  executed  in  two  or  more  counterparts,  each  of  which  shall  be  deemed  an  original,  but  all  of  which
together shall constitute one instrument.

9) As  a  condition  to  the  effectiveness  of  this  Amendment,  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  received,  in  form  and  substance
reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent, the following:
a) this Amendment, duly executed by Borrower;
b) the Reaffirmation of Guaranty by Trupanion Brokers, duly executed by Trupanion Brokers;
c) the  Reaffirmation  of  Guaranty  by  Trupanion  Canadian  Shareholders  Ltd.,  duly  executed  by  Trupanion  Canadian

Shareholders Ltd.;
d) payment  of  all  Administrative  Agent  expenses,  including  Administrative  Agent’s  expenses  for  the  documentation  of  this

Agreement and any related documents, and any UCC, good standing or intellectual property search or filing fees, which may
be debited from any of Borrower's accounts; and

e) such  other  documents  and  completion  of  such  other  matters,  as  Administrative  Agent  may  reasonably  deem necessary  or
appropriate.

[Signatures on the Following Page]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Amendment as of the first date above written.

BORROWER:

TRUPANION, INC.

By:     /s/ Tricia Plouf     
Name:     Tricia Plouf     
Title:     Chief Financial Officer     

By:     /s/ Asher Bearman     
Name:     Asher Bearman     
Title:     Chief Strategy Officer     

TRUPANION MANAGERS USA, INC.

By:     /s/ Tricia Plouf     
Name:     Tricia Plouf     
Title:     Chief Financial Officer             

6100 BUILDING, LLC

By:     /s/ Tricia Plouf     
Name:     Tricia Plouf     
Title:     Chief Financial Officer         

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:

PACIFIC WESTERN BANK, as the Administrative Agent

By:     /s/ Matthew Long     
Name:     Matthew Long     
Title:     VP         



LENDERS:

PACIFIC WESTERN BANK, as a Lender

By:     /s/ Matthew Long     
Name:     Matthew Long     
Title:     VP

WESTERN ALLIANCE BANK, as a Lender

By:     /s/ Thomas Reimer     
Name:     Thomas Reimer     
Title:     Sr. Director

    



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant To Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14a

As Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

I, Darryl Rawlings, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Trupanion, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2020

/s/ Darryl Rawlings

Darryl Rawlings
Chief Executive Officer and President

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant To Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14a

As Adopted Pursuant To Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002

I, Tricia Plouf, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Trupanion, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2020

/s/ Tricia Plouf

Tricia Plouf
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Darryl Rawlings, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Quarterly Report of Trupanion, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in such Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Trupanion, Inc.

Date: April 30, 2020

/s/ Darryl Rawlings

Darryl Rawlings
Chief Executive Officer and President

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Tricia Plouf, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

1. The Quarterly Report of Trupanion, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in such Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Trupanion, Inc.

Date: April 30, 2020

/s/ Tricia Plouf

Tricia Plouf
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)


